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exposing us to interest rate risk with respect to the portion of our indebtedness that bears interest at variable rates; 

limiting our ability to pay dividends on our common stock or make payments in connection with our other obligations; 

impairing our access to the capital markets for debt and equity; 

requiring that an increasing portion of our cash flows from operations be dedicated to the payment of the principal and interest on our debt, 
thereby reducing funds available for future operations, dividends on our common stock or capital expenditures; 

limiting our ability to take advantage of significant business opportunities, such as acquisition opportunities, and to react to changes in market or 
industry conditions; and 

placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to those of our competitors that have less debt. 

During 2023, we utilized existing sources of liquidity, such as our current cash balances, cash flows from operations and borrowings under our 
commercial paper program, to meet our short-term liquidity requirements. We believe that existing sources of liquidity will be sufficient to meet our cash 
requirements for the foreseeable future. In order to meet our capital expenditure and other operational needs, however, we may be required to borrow additional 
funds under the revolving credit facility. In the event of a sustained market deterioration, we may need to obtain additional sources of liquidity, which would 
require us to evaluate available alternatives and take appropriate actions. Moreover, additional borrowings may be required to repay or refinance outstanding 
indebtedness. Debt maturities and sinking fund payments in 2024, 2025 and 2026 will be $475 million, $619 million and $1,478 million, respectively. We can 
provide no assurance that we will be able to access the debt or equity capital markets on favorable terms, if at all, to repay or refinance this debt. Moreover, as 
new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks we now face could intensify, limiting our ability to repay or refinance existing debt on favorable 
terms. 

We have in the past entered into, and in the future may enter into, financial derivative instruments, including without limitation, interest rate swaps, 
forward starting swaps and U.S. Treasury lock agreements. See Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. However, these efforts 
may not be effective to fully mitigate interest rate risk, and may expose us to other risks and uncertainties, including quarterly "mark to market" valuation risk 
associated with these instruments, that could negatively and materially affect our fmancial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Our ability to pay our expenses and satisfy our debt service obligations depends in significant part on our future performance, which will be affected by 
the financial, business, economic, competitive, legislative (including tax initiatives and reforms, and other similar legislation or regulation), regulatory and 
other risk factors described in this section, many of which are beyond our control. If we do not have sufficient cash flows to pay the principal and interest on 
our outstanding debt, we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing debt, reduce capital investments, sell assets, borrow additional funds or sell 
additional equity. In addition, if our business does not generate sufficient cash flows from operations, or if we are unable to incur indebtedness sufficient to 
enable us to fund our liquidity needs, we may be unable to plan for or respond to changes in our business, which could cause our financial condition, operating 
results and prospects to be affected materially and adversely. 

Our inability to access the debt or equity capital or financial markets or other events could affect our ability to meet our long-term commitments or liquidity 
needs at reasonable cost, which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition to cash from operations, during 2023, we relied on a $2.75 billion revolving credit facility, a $2.60 billion commercial paper program, and 
the debt and equity capital markets, to satisfy our liquidity needs. Historically, we have regularly used our commercial paper program rather than the revolving 
credit facility as a principal source of short-term borrowing due to the generally more attractive rates we generally could obtain in the commercial paper 
market. As of December 31, 2023, there were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility, $180 million of commercial paper outstanding and 
$75 million in outstanding letters of credit. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to access this commercial paper program or revolving 
credit facility, when, as and if desired, or that the amount of capital available thereunder will be sufficient to meet all of our liquidity needs at a reasonable, or 
any, cost. 

Our ability to comply with covenants in our revolving credit facility and our other consolidated indebtedness is subject to various risks and uncertainties, 
including events beyond our control. For example, under the terms of the revolving credit facility, our consolidated debt cannot exceed 70% of our consolidated 
capitalization, as determined under the terms of the facility. If our equity were to decline or debt were to increase to a level that causes us to exceed this limit, 
lenders under the facility would be entitled to refuse any further extension of credit and to declare all of the outstanding debt thereunder immediately due and 
payable. Events that could cause a reduction in equity include, without limitation, a significant write-down of our goodwill. To avoid such a default, a waiver or 
renegotiation of this covenant would be required, which would likely increase funding costs and could result in additional covenants that would restrict our 
operational and financing flexibility. Even if we are able to comply with this or other covenants, the limitations on our operational and financial flexibility 
could harm our business by, among other things, limiting our ability to incur 
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indebtedness or reduce equity in connection with financings or other corporate opportunities that we may believe would be in our best interests or the interests 
of our shareholders to complete. 

As provided in our five-year capital plan, in order to meet our capital expenditure needs, we intend to issue a combination of short-term and long-term 
debt securities and/or additional equity shares of common stock. Disruptions in the debt or equity capital markets or changes in our credit ratings or other 
events could limit our ability to access capital on terms favorable to us or at all. While the lending banks that participate in the revolving credit facility have to 
date honored their commitments under those facilities, disruptions in the credit markets, changes in our credit ratings, or deterioration of the banking industry's 
financial condition could discourage or prevent lenders from meeting their existing lending commitments, extending the terms of such commitments, or 
agreeing to new commitments. In such a case, we may not be able to access the commercial paper, debt or equity capital markets, or other sources of potential 
liquidity, in the future on terms acceptable to us or at all. Furthermore, our inability to maintain, renew or replace commitments under our revolving credit 
facility could materially increase our cost of capital and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity. Short- or long-term 
disruptions or volatility in the debt or equity capital and credit markets as a result of economic, legislative, political or other uncertainties, including as a result 
of changes in U.S. tax and other laws, reduced financing alternatives, or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect our access to the 
capital necessary to provide adequate liquidity for our business. Significant volatility or disruptions in the debt or equity capital or credit markets, or financial 
institution failures, could require us to take measures to conserve cash until the market stabilizes or until alternative fmancing can be arranged. Such measures 
could include delaying or deferring capital expenditures, reducing or suspending dividend payments, and reducing other discretionary expenditures. Finally, 
even absent significant volatility or disruptions in the capital markets, there can be no assurance that we will be able to access markets to obtain capital or 
financing when necessary or desirable and on terms that are reasonable or acceptable to us. 

The occurrence of any of these circumstances could expose us to increased interest or other expense, require us to institute cash or liquidity conservation 
measures or otherwise adversely and materially affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity, which may limit or 
impair our ability to achieve our strategic, business and operational goals and objectives. 

The conditional exchange feature of the Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2026, if triggered may adversely effect our liquidity and financial condition and 
may dilute the ownership interest of our shareholders or may otherwise depress the price of parent company's common stock 

In June 2023, AWCC issued $1,035.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Notes"). See Note 11 
—Long-Term Debt in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Notes. In the event the conditional exchange feature of the 
Notes is triggered and one or more holders elect to exchange their Notes, AWCC would be required to settle any exchanged principal through the payment of 
cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, in that case, even if holders do not elect to exchange their Notes, we would be required under 
applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result 
in a material reduction of our net working capital. If AWCC elects to settle the portion, if any, of an exchange obligation in excess of the aggregate principal 
amount of the Notes being exchanged in shares of parent company common stock or a combination of cash and shares of such common stock, any sales in the 
public market of the common stock deliverable upon such exchange could adversely affect prevailing market prices of parent company common stock. In 
addition, the existence of the Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the exchange of the Notes could be used to satisfy short 
positions, and any anticipated exchange of the Notes for shares of such common stock could depress the price of such common stock. 

Parent company may be unable to meet its ongoing and future financial obligations and to pay dividends on its common stock if its subsidiaries are unable 
to pay upstream dividends or repay funds. 

Parent company is a holding company and, as such, it has no substantive operations of its own. Substantially all of our consolidated assets are held by 
subsidiaries. Parent company's ability to meet its financial obligations and to pay dividends on its common stock is primarily dependent on the net income and 
cash flows of its subsidiaries and their ability to pay upstream dividends or repay indebtedness to parent company. Prior to paying dividends to parent company, 
our regulated subsidiaries must comply with applicable regulatory restrictions and financial obligations, including, for example, debt service and preferred and 
preference stock dividends, as well as applicable corporate, tax and other laws and regulations and agreements, and our covenants and other agreements. Our 
subsidiaries are separate legal entities and have no obligation to pay or upstream dividends to parent company. A failure or inability of any of these subsidiaries 
to pay such dividends or repay intercompany obligations could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity and parent company's ability to pay dividends 
on its common stock and meet its other obligations. 

34 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 695 of 2266



Table of Contents 

We have a significant amount of goodwill and other assets measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, and we may be required to record 
impairments or changes in fair value to these assets, which may negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations. 

Our assets as of December 31, 2023, included $1.1 billion of goodwill and $236 million of total assets measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring 
basis. The goodwill is primarily associated with the acquisition of American Water by an affiliate of our previous owner in 2003. Goodwill represents the 
excess of the purchase price the purchaser paid over the fair value of the net tangible and other intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is recorded at fair value on 
the date of an acquisition and is reviewed annually or more frequently if changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. As 
required by the applicable accounting rules, in the past, we have taken significant non-cash charges to operating results for impairments to goodwill or other 
intangible assets, and have recorded changes in fair value of financial instruments and other assets. We may be required to recognize in the future an 
impairment of goodwill or a change in fair value of financial instruments or certain other assets due to market conditions, other factors related to our 
performance or the performance of an acquired business, or other circumstances that may impact the fair value of a financial instrument or the other asset. See 
Note 18—Fair Value of Financial Information in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the fair value of financial and other 
assets. These market conditions could include a decline over a period of time of our stock price, a decline over a period of time in valuation multiples of 
comparable water utilities, market price performance of our common stock that compares unfavorably to our peer companies, decreases in control premiums, 
or other circumstances. A decline in the results forecasted in our business plan due to events such as changes in rate case results, capital investment budgets or 
interest rates, could also result in an impairment charge. Recognition of impairments of goodwill and changes in fair value of certain of our other assets would 
result in a charge to income in the period in which the impairment or change occurred, which may negatively affect our financial condition, results of 
operations and total capitalization. The effects of any such impairment or change could be material and could make it more difficult to maintain our credit 
ratings, secure fmancing on attractive terms, maintain compliance with debt covenants and meet the expectations of our regulators. 

Market volatility and other conditions may impact the value of benefit plan assets and liabilities, as well as assumptions related to the benefit plans, which 
may require us to provide significant additional funding. 

The performance of the capital markets affects the values of the assets that are held in trust to satisfy significant future obligations under our pension and 
postretirement benefit plans. The value of these assets is subject to market fluctuations and volatility, which may cause investment returns to fall below our 
projected return rates. A decline in the market value of our pension and postretirement benefit plan assets as of the measurement date or a change in the 
projection of the future return on plan assets can increase the funding requirements under our pension and postretirement benefit plans. Additionally, our 
pension and postretirement benefit plan liabilities are sensitive to changes in interest rates. Interest rates have experienced volatility and are subject to potential 
further adjustments based on the actions of the U.S. Federal Reserve, and others. If interest rates are lower at the current measurement date than the prior 
measurement date, our liabilities would increase, potentially increasing benefit expense and funding requirements. Further, changes in assumptions, such as 
increases in life expectancy assumptions and increasing trends in health care costs may also increase our funding requirements. Future increases in pension and 
other postretirement costs as a result of reduced plan assets may not be fully recoverable in rates, in which case our results of operations and financial position 
could be negatively affected. In addition, market factors can affect assumptions we use in determining funding requirements with respect to our pension and 
postretirement plans. For example, a relatively modest change in our assumptions regarding discount rates can materially affect our calculation of funding 
requirements. To the extent that the discount rate used in our assumptions is reduced, our benefit obligations could be materially increased, which could 
adversely affect our fmancial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

Additional Risks Related to Other Businesses 

Parent company provides performance guarantees with respect to certain of the obligations of our Other businesses, including financial guarantees or 
deposits, which may adversely affect parent company if the guarantees are successfully enforced 

Under the terms of certain agreements under which our Other businesses, primarily MSG, provide water and wastewater services to municipalities and 
federal governmental entities, parent company provides guarantees of specified performance obligations, including financial guarantees or deposits. In the 
event these obligations are not performed, the entity holding the guarantees may seek to enforce the performance commitments against parent company or 
proceed against the deposit. In that event, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and liquidity could be adversely affected. At December 31, 
2023, we had remaining performance commitments, as measured by remaining contract revenue, and primarily related to MSG's contracts, totaling 
approximately $7.8 billion, of which $1.2 billion are guaranteed by parent company and the remainder is guaranteed by certain subsidiaries in Other. The 
aggregate amount of remaining performance commitments is likely to increase as the number of military bases served by MSG increases. The presence of these 
commitments may adversely affect our financial condition and make it more difficult for us to secure financing on attractive terms. 
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MSG's operations are subject to various risks associated with doing business with the U.S. government. 

MSG enters into contracts with the U.S. government for the operation and maintenance of water and wastewater systems, which contracts may be 
terminated, in whole or in part, prior to the end of the 50-year term for convenience of the U.S. government or as a result of default or non-performance by the 
subsidiary performing the contract. In addition, the contract price for each of these military contracts is typically subject to either an annual economic price 
adjustment, or a price redetermination two years after commencement of operations and every three years thereafter. Any early contract termination or 
unfavorable annual economic price adjustment or price redetermination could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
Moreover, entering into contracts with the U.S. government subjects us to a number of operational and compliance risks, including dependence on the level of 
government spending and compliance with and changes in governmental procurement and security regulations. We are subject to potential government 
investigations of our business practices and compliance with government procurement and security regulations, which are complex, and compliance with these 
regulations can be expensive and burdensome. If we were charged with wrongdoing as a result of an investigation, we could be suspended or debarred from 
bidding on or receiving awards of new contracts with the U.S. government or our existing contracts could be terminated, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our results of operations and cash flows. 

General Risk Factors 

New accounting standards or changes to existing accounting standards could materially impact how we report our results of operations, cash flows and 
financial condition. 

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The SEC, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or other 
authoritative bodies or governmental entities may issue new pronouncements or new interpretations of existing accounting standards that may require us to 
change our accounting policies or critical accounting estimates. These changes are beyond our control, can be difficult to predict and could materially impact 
how we report our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. We could be required to apply a new or revised standard retroactively, which could 
also adversely affect our previously reported results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

Undetected errors in internal controls and information reporting could result in the disallowance of cost recovery and noncompliant disclosure. 

Our internal controls, accounting policies and practices and internal information systems are designed to enable us to capture and process transactions 
and information in a timely and accurate manner in compliance with GAAP, taxation requirements, federal securities laws and regulations and other laws and 
regulations applicable to us. We have also implemented corporate governance, internal control and accounting policies and procedures in connection with the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act") and relevant SEC rules, as well as other applicable regulations. Management is also responsible for 
establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures and is required to assess annually the effectiveness 
of these controls. While we believe these controls, policies, practices and systems are adequate to verify data integrity, unanticipated or unauthorized actions of 
employees or temporary lapses in internal controls due to shortfalls in oversight or resource constraints could lead to undetected errors that could result in the 
disallowance of cost recovery and non-compliant disclosure and reporting. The consequences of these events could have a negative impact on our results of 
operations, cash flows and fmancial condition. The inability of management to certify as to the effectiveness of these controls due to the identification of one or 
more material weaknesses in these controls could also harm our reputation, increase financing costs or adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets. 

Our continued success is dependent upon our ability to attract, hire and retain highly qualified, skilled and/or diverse talent. 

The success of our business is dependent upon our ability to attract, hire and retain highly qualified, skilled and/or diverse talent, including engineers, 
licensed operators, water quality, regulatory and management professionals who have the desired experience and expertise. Similar to other organizations, the 
Company may have challenges implementing its human capital management, recruitment and employee succession plans to attract and retain such talent based 
on a number of factors including, among others, market conditions, retirements and geography. If we are unable to meet these human capital resource 
challenges, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be materially and adversely impacted. 

Our business may be adversely affected by the intentional misconduct of our employees and contractors. 

Our Code of Ethics requires employees and contractors to make decisions ethically and in compliance with applicable law and regulatory requirements, 
and our Code of Ethics and its underlying policies, practices and procedures. All employees are required to complete training on and review the Code of Ethics 
on an annual basis, and violations of the Code of Ethics could result in disciplinary actions up to, and including, termination. Despite these efforts to prevent 
misconduct, it is possible for employees or contractors to engage in intentional misconduct and violate laws and regulations through, among other things, theft, 
fraud, misappropriation, bribery, corruption and engaging in conflicts of interest or related person transactions, or otherwise committing serious breaches of our 
Code of Ethics and our policies, practices and procedures. Intentional misconduct by employees or contractors could result in substantial liability, higher costs, 
increased regulatory scrutiny and significant reputational harm, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows. 
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ITEM IB. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None. 

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY 

The Company's Cybersecurity Program 

The Company's cybersecurity program is an integral part of the long-term sustainability and effectiveness of the Company's operational and technology 
environment. To protect the integrity of its data and operational and technology systems, the Company employs a "defense-in-depth" strategy that uses multiple 
security measures. This strategy aligns with the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cyber Security Framework and provides preventative, 
detective, and responsive measures to identify and manage risks. The Company periodically reviews and modifies the implementation of its cybersecurity 
strategy based on threat trends, program maturity, the results of assessments, and the advice of third-party security consultants. 

The Company's cybersecurity program includes the following areas of focus: 

Technology that includes, among other things, encryption, threat management, monitoring, investigation support and backups for physical 
devices, such as mobile phones and computers, connected to the Company network; 

Identity and access management controls that include, among other things, multi-factor authentication and safeguards associated with granting 
elevated privileges; 

Proactive cybersecurity processes, including vulnerability scanning, penetration testing and periodic program assessments by outside security 
consultants and assessors; 

Reactive cybersecurity processes that are regularly evaluated using various incident response and disaster recovery exercises; 

Employee cyber risk awareness and training, including regular simulation exercises with employees, that covers cybersecurity threats and actions 
to prevent and report attacks; and 

Third-party risk management and security standards, including due diligence, continuous monitoring, cyber risk scoring and contractual 
obligations, and periodic review of third-party control environments to align the Company's risk exposure with its business requirements and risk 
tolerances. 

Third-Party Relationships 

The Company utilizes partners and third-party service providers to help deliver safe and reliable water and wastewater services across its regulated 
operations and has implemented a third-party risk management program to understand the cybersecurity risks to the Company that may arise out of these third-
party relationships. The Company categorizes third-party relationships by risk level, which is determined primarily by the service provided by the third-party 
and its level of access to the Company's data. Each category has specific cybersecurity controls, data privacy and documentation requirements, which are 
outlined in the agreement between the Company and the third-party service provider. In addition, the Company evaluates the online security footprint for its 
service providers at the time of agreement, and on a regular basis, thereafter, depending on the provider's risk level. The Company reviews its agreements with 
third-party service providers periodically related to terms and conditions governing cybersecurity controls and data privacy. The Company also monitors, as 
appropriate, risks relating to potential compromises of sensitive Company information through third parties and reevaluates these risks periodically. In addition, 
the Company obtains annual attestation reports related to data security and privacy from certain third-party providers to further support compliance with 
industry-standard cybersecurity protocols. 

Cybersecurity Risks 

The Company believes that its current preventative actions and response activities provide reasonable measures of protection against security breaches 
and serve generally to reduce the Company's overall cybersecurity risk. However, cybersecurity threats are constantly evolving and have and will continue to 
become more frequent and sophisticated. Although the Company has implemented measures that it believes are reasonable to safeguard its operational and 
technology systems and has sought to establish a culture of continuous monitoring and improvement, the evolving nature of cybersecurity attacks and 
vulnerabilities means that these protections may not always be effective. In addition, the Company has obtained insurance to provide coverage for a portion of 
the losses and damages that may result from a cyber attack or a security breach, but such insurance is subject to exclusions, limitations and exceptions, and may 
not cover the total loss or damage caused by an attack or breach. To date, management has determined that no cybersecurity incident experienced by the 
Company has resulted in a material impact on its financial condition, results of operations or business strategy. For additional information concerning 
cybersecurity-related risks, see Item 1A—Risk Factors—We may be subject to physical and cyber attacks, and —We may sustain losses that exceed or are 
excluded from our insurance coverage or for which we are self-insured. 
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Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy 

The Company has established an enterprise-wide cybersecurity program designed to prevent disruption to critical information systems, minimize the loss 
or manipulation of sensitive information, and to timely identify, escalate and promptly remediate and recover from cybersecurity incidents and facilitate 
compliance with regulatory and disclosure requirements. To oversee cybersecurity risk management, the Company employs a dedicated unit, led by the 
Company's Chief Security Officer ("CSO"), to implement cybersecurity controls, assess and report on cybersecurity risks and consult with the Company's 
internal Enterprise Risk Management Committee, a decision-making body which supports and oversees the identification, assessment, prioritization, and 
mitigation strategies for enterprise-level risks, including cybersecurity risks. The Company's CSO has 23 years of work experience in the cybersecurity field 
throughout various industries, including the utility sector, and has obtained several professional certifications, including from the International Information 
System Security Certification Consortium. The CSO reports directly to the Company's Chief Information Officer ("CIO"), who is responsible for the 
Company's information technology program. The CIO has over 25 years of work experience in the information technology, physical security and cybersecurity 
fields, including previously serving as the Company's CSO, and holds the Certified Protection Professional, Professional Certified Investigator and Physical 
Security Professional certifications from ASIS International. The CIO serves on the Water Sector Coordinating Council ("WSCC"), an advisory body 
comprised of representatives from various U.S. water and wastewater organizations, which serves as a policy, strategy and coordination mechanism for the 
water sector on critical infrastructure security and resilience issues. In that role, the CIO partners with representatives from the Department of Homeland 
Security and the EPA on U.S. water and wastewater sector initiatives. The CIO is also the former Chair of the WSCC, the National Association of Water 
Companies' Safety and Security Committee, and the ASIS Utility Security Council. 

The Company's security team provides oversight and policy guidance on physical, cyber and information security, as well as business continuity, 
throughout the Company's operations. It is responsible for designing, implementing, monitoring and supporting effective physical and technical security 
controls for the Company's physical assets, business systems and operational technologies. The Company's security team also conducts annual and ongoing 
cybersecurity awareness training and education for the Company's employees. In 2023, 100% of the Company's active workforce completed mandatory 
cybersecurity training. By equipping employees with knowledge and skills, the Company strives to cultivate and maintain a cybersecurity-conscious culture 
within its workforce. 

The Company's cybersecurity risk assessment process involves considering risks associated with the nature of its business, receiving and processing 
inputs from internal and external stakeholders, monitoring industry trends and risks and engaging external advisors, to assist in aligning the Company's 
cybersecurity processes with industry best practices. Risk assessments are conducted quarterly and annually to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company's 
existing security controls and serve as the basis for additional safeguards, security controls and measures. Operational and technical security controls are 
deployed and integrated as safeguards against unauthorized access to the Company's information systems. These controls are aimed at (i) assuring the 
continuity of business processes that are dependent upon automation, (ii) maintaining the integrity of the Company's data, (iii) supporting regulatory and 
legislative compliance requirements, and (iv) maintaining safe and reliable service to the Company's customers. 

The Company has also implemented a vulnerability assessment program that is conducted at least annually and more frequently, depending on the nature 
of the risk. This process serves as a guiding enterprise-wide framework to outline the scope and procedures of the Company's cybersecurity risk management 
processes. By prioritizing vulnerability management and continuously evaluating the Company's internal and external environments for vulnerabilities, the 
Company aims to implement preventative measures to protect its information assets and technology-based infrastructure from cybersecurity threats. This 
approach helps to reduce the Company's exposure to material cybersecurity threat risks. 

Incident Response 

The Company utilizes an established internal framework designed to assess promptly the severity and materiality of cybersecurity incidents based on 
predefined quantitative and qualitative criteria and to determine the appropriate level of response. Incidents are escalated to the relevant management teams 
based on their severity and materiality for prompt response and mitigation. The Company maintains a standing crisis response team comprised of individuals 
from various functional units, including without limitation Information Technology, Legal, Finance, Enterprise Risk Management, Operations and 
Communications, to respond to cybersecurity and physical security incidents, environmental incidents and health and safety emergencies, among others. 

If a cybersecurity incident were to occur, the Company would establish a cross-functional incident response team to respond to the specific cybersecurity 
incident. The incident response team would consist of a subset of members from the standing crisis response team, including personnel with the most relevant 
experience related to the specific incident. This collaborative approach is intended to enable the Company to leverage expertise throughout the business to 
address cybersecurity events and to evaluate the potential financial, legal, operational and reputational implications of an incident, or series of related incidents. 
In considering the materiality of an event, related attacks, whether in terms of quantity or impact, are reviewed individually and in the aggregate to determine 
whether they may have a significant impact on the Company's financial condition, results of operations or business strategy, either quantitatively or 
qualitatively. 
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Cybersecurity Governance 

The Board of Directors is responsible for oversight of the Company's cybersecurity program and the Company's responses to cybersecurity risk. The 
Board of Directors has delegated to the Safety, Environmental, Technology and Operations ("SETO") Committee of the Board of Directors responsibility for 
the oversight and review of technology policy, strategy and governance, and cybersecurity issues that could impact the Company's operational performance or 
risk profile. The SETO Committee meets at least quarterly and receives reports from the CIO and CSO related to cybersecurity threats, trends and risks, and 
related mitigation activities. In addition, the SETO Committee and the Board of Directors receive reports of periodic external assessments and internal testing 
of the effectiveness of the Company's cybersecurity program. The SETO Committee coordinates with the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee of the Board of 
Directors, as appropriate, on matters related to cybersecurity risk. The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee is responsible for, among other things, overseeing 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's system of internal controls and the Company's risk assessment and management strategy, including with 
respect to cybersecurity risks. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

The Company's properties consist primarily of (i) water and wastewater treatment plants, (ii) mains and pipes used for transmission, distribution and 
collection of water and wastewater, (iii) wells and other sources of water supply, such as reservoirs, (iv) water and wastewater pumping stations, (v) meters and 
fire hydrants, (vi) general structures, including buildings, dams and treated water storage facilities, (vii) land and easements, (viii) vehicles, (ix) software rights, 
and (x) other equipment and facilities, the majority of which are used directly in the operation of its systems. Substantially all of the Company's properties are 
owned by its subsidiaries, with a large percentage subject to liens of its mortgage bonds. A wholly owned subsidiary of parent company owns the Company's 
corporate headquarters, located in Camden, New Jersey, and the Company and its operating subsidiaries lease office space, equipment and furniture from 
certain of the Company's wholly owned subsidiaries. These properties are utilized by the Company's directors, officers and staff in the conduct of the business. 

The properties of the Company's Regulated Businesses consist mainly of approximately: 

80 surface water treatment plants; 

540 groundwater treatment plants; 

175 wastewater treatment plants; 

53,700 miles of transmission, distribution and collection mains and pipes; 

1,200 groundwater wells; 

1,700 water and wastewater pumping stations; 

1,100 treated water storage facilities; and 

74 dams. 

The Company has ongoing infrastructure renewal programs in all states in which its Regulated Businesses operate. These programs consist of both the 
rehabilitation of existing mains and equipment, and the replacement of mains and equipment that have been damaged or have reached, or are near, the end of 
their useful service lives. The properties within Other consist mainly of office furniture and IT equipment. Approximately 50% of all properties that the 
Company owns are located in New Jersey and Pennsylvania. 

The Company maintains property insurance against loss or damage to its properties by fire or other perils, subject to certain exceptions. For insured 
losses, the Company is self-insured to the extent that any losses are within the policy deductible or exceed the amount of insurance maintained. 

The Company believes that its properties are generally maintained in good operating condition and in accordance with current standards of good water 
and wastewater industry practice. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Set forth below is information related to the Company's material pending legal proceedings as of February 14, 2024, other than ordinary routine 
litigation incidental to the business, required to be disclosed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The information below should be read together with Note 16 
—Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. In accordance with the SEC's disclosure rules, the Company has 
elected to disclose environmental proceedings involving the Company and a governmental authority if the amount of potential monetary sanctions, exclusive of 
interest and costs, that the Company reasonably believes will result from such proceeding is $1 million or more. 
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Alternative Water Supply in Lieu of Carmel River Diversions 

Compliance with SWRCB Orders to Reduce Carmel River Diversions 

Under the 2009 Order, Cal Am is required, among other things, to decrease significantly its yearly diversions of water from the Carmel River according 
to a set reduction schedule. See Item 1—Business—Regulated Businesses—Water Supply and Wastewater Services and Item 1A—Risk Factors. The 2009 
Order responded to claims that Cal Am had not sufficiently implemented actions to terminate its unpermitted diversions of water from the Carmel River as 
required by the 1995 Order issued by the SWRCB. In July 2016, at the request of Cal Am and several Monterey County government agencies, the SWRCB 
issued the 2016 Order approving a deadline of December 31, 2021, for Cal Am's compliance with the 2009 Order. 

The 2009 Order includes a condition prohibiting Cal Am from diverting water from the Cannel River for new service connections or for any increased 
use of water at existing service addresses resulting from a change in zoning or use. In 2011, the California Public Utilities Commission (the "CPUC") issued a 
decision directing modifications in Cal Am's tariffs to recognize the moratorium mandated by the 2009 Order, and directing Cal Am to seek written guidance 
from the SWRCB with respect to any unresolved issues of interpretation or implementation of this condition. In 2012, the Deputy Director of the SWRCB sent 
a letter to Cal Am providing an interpretation as to the calculation of a baseline to determine increases in use of water at existing service addresses. In March 
2018, the MPWMD adopted a resolution directing Cal Am to interpret the baseline in a manner that conflicts with the SWRCB's written interpretation. In May 
2018, Cal Am notified the MPWMD and the SWRCB that it intends to seek declaratory relief concerning the conflicting regulatory interpretations under the 
2009 Order. In an attempt to resolve these conflicting interpretations prior to seeking judicial intervention, Cal Am has met with the MPWMD and the SWRCB 
several times. The SWRCB agreed to circulate revisions to its 2012 interpretive letter, which would be subject to a public comment period. Any failure to 
follow the MPWMD's resolution or the SWRCB's written interpretation, despite these conflicting interpretations, could potentially result in fines, penalties and 
other actions against Cal Am. 

Following issuance by the Coastal Commission in November 2022, of a coastal development permit, as described below, Cal Am continues to work 
constructively with all appropriate agencies to obtain the remaining required permits for the Water Supply Project. However, there can be no assurance that the 
Water Supply Project in its current configuration will be completed on a timely basis, if ever. For the year ended December 31, 2023, Cal Am has complied 
with the diversion limitations contained in the 2016 Order. Continued compliance with the diversion limitations in 2024, and future years may be impacted by a 
number of factors, including without limitation potential recurrence of drought conditions in California and the reduction or exhaustion of water supply 
reserves, and will require successful development of alternate water supply sources sufficient to meet customer demand. The 2009 Order and the 2016 Order 
remain in effect until Cal Am certifies to the SWRCB, and the SWRCB concurs, that Cal Am has obtained a permanent supply of water to substitute for past 
unauthorized Carmel River diversions. While the Company cannot currently predict the likelihood or result of any adverse outcome associated with these 
matters, further attempts to comply with the 2009 Order and the 2016 Order in the future may result in material additional costs and obligations to Cal Am, 
including fines and penalties against Cal Am in the event of noncompliance with the 2009 Order and the 2016 Order. 

Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project 

CPUC Final Approval of Water Supply Project 

Cal Am's ability to move forward on the Water Supply Project is and has been subject to extensive administrative review by the CPUC and other 
government agencies, obtaining necessary permits, and intervention from other parties. In 2016, the CPUC unanimously approved a fmal decision to authorize 
Cal Am to enter into a water purchase agreement for the GWR Project and to construct a pipeline and pump station facilities and recover up to the incurred $50 
million in associated costs plus AFUDC, subject to meeting certain criteria. 

In 2018, the CPUC unanimously approved another final decision finding that the Water Supply Project meets the CPUC's requirements for a CPCN and 
an additional procedural phase was not necessary to consider alternative projects. The CPUC's 2018 decision concludes that the Water Supply Project is the 
best project to address estimated future water demands in Monterey, and, in addition to the cost recovery approved in its 2016 decision, adopts Cal Am's cost 
estimates for the Water Supply Project, which amounted to an aggregate of $279 million plus AFUDC at a rate representative of Cal Am's actual financing 
costs. The 2018 fmal decision specifies the procedures for recovery of all of Cal Am's prudently incurred costs associated with the Water Supply Project upon 
its completion, subject to the frameworks included in the fmal decision related to cost caps, O&M costs, financing, ratemaking and contingency matters. The 
reasonableness of the Water Supply Project costs will be reviewed by the CPUC when Cal Am seeks cost recovery for the Water Supply Project. Cal Am is also 
required to implement mitigation measures to avoid, minimize or offset significant environmental impacts from the construction and operation of the Water 
Supply Project and comply with a mitigation monitoring and reporting program, a reimbursement agreement for CPUC costs associated with that program, and 
reporting requirements on plant operations following placement of the Water Supply Project in service. Cal Am has incurred $241 million in aggregate costs as 
of December 31, 2023, related to the Water Supply Project, which includes $72 million in AFUDC. 
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In September 2021, Cal Am, Monterey One Water and the MPWMD reached an agreement on Cal Am's purchase of additional water from an expansion 
to the GWR Project, which is not expected to produce additional water until 2024 at the earliest. The amended and restated water purchase agreement for the 
GWR Project expansion is subject to review and approval of the CPUC, and in November 2021, Cal Am filed an application with the CPUC that sought review 
and approval of the amended and restated water purchase agreement. Cal Am also requested rate base treatment of the additional capital investment for certain 
Cal Am facilities required to maximize the water supply from the expansion to the GWR Project and a related Aquifer Storage and Recovery Project, totaling 
approximately $81 million. This requested amount was in addition to, and consistent in regulatory treatment with, the prior $50 million of cost recovery for 
facilities associated with the original water purchase agreement, which was approved by the CPUC in its unanimous 2016 fmal decision. 

On December 5, 2022, the CPUC issued a final decision that authorizes Cal Am to enter into the amended water purchase agreement, and specifically to 
increase pumping capacity and reliability of groundwater extraction from the Seaside Groundwater Basin. The fmal decision sets the cost cap for the proposed 
facilities at approximately $62 million. Cal Am may seek recovery of amounts above the cost cap in a subsequent rate filing or general rate case. Additionally, 
the final decision authorizes AFUDC at Cal Am's actual weighted average cost of debt for most of the facilities. 

On December 30, 2022, Cal Am filed with the CPUC an application for rehearing of the CPUC's December 5, 2022 final decision. On March 30, 2023, 
the CPUC issued a decision denying Cal Am's application for rehearing but adopting its proposed AFUDC for already incurred and future costs. The decision 
also provides Cal Am the opportunity to serve supplemental testimony to increase its cost cap for certain of the Water Supply Project's extraction wells. The 
amended water purchase agreement and a memorandum of understanding to negotiate certain milestones related to the expansion of the GWR Project have 
been signed by the relevant parties. Further hearings were scheduled in a Phase 2 to this CPUC proceeding to focus on updated supply and demand estimates 

for the Water Supply Project, and Phase 2 testimony was completed in September 2022. On October 23, 2023, a status conference was held to determine 
procedural steps to conclude the proceeding. Further evidentiary hearings in this proceeding have been scheduled for March 2024. 

While Cal Am believes that its expenditures to date have been prudent and necessary to comply with the 2009 Order and the 2016 Order, as well as 
relevant final decisions of the CPUC related thereto, Cal Am cannot currently predict its ability to recover all of its costs and expenses associated with the 
Water Supply Project and there can be no assurance that Cal Am will be able to recover all of such costs and expenses in excess of the $112 million in 
aggregate construction costs, plus applicable AFUDC, previously approved by the CPUC in its 2016 and December 2022 final decisions, as amended by its 
March 30, 2023 rehearing decision. See Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
discussion. 

Coastal Development Permit Application 

In 2018, Cal Am submitted a coastal development permit application (the "Marina Application") to the City of Marina (the "City") for those project 
components of the Water Supply Project located within the City's coastal zone. Members of the City's Planning Commission, as well as City councilpersons, 
have publicly expressed opposition to the Water Supply Project. In May 2019, the City issued a notice of final local action based upon the denial by the 
Planning Commission of the Marina Application. Thereafter, Cal Am appealed this decision to the Coastal Commission, as permitted under the City's code and 
the California Coastal Act. At the same time, Cal Am submitted an application (the "Original Jurisdiction Application") to the Coastal Commission for a coastal 
development permit for those project components located within the Coastal Commission's original jurisdiction. After Coastal Commission staff issued reports 
recommending denial of the Original Jurisdiction Application, noting potential impacts on environmentally sensitive habitat areas and wetlands and possible 
disproportionate impacts to communities of concern, in September 2020, Cal Am withdrew the Original Jurisdiction Application in order to address the staff's 

environmental justice concerns. The withdrawal of the Original Jurisdiction Application did not impact Cal Am's appeal of the City's denial of the Marina 

Application, which remains pending before the Coastal Commission. In November 2020, Cal Am refiled the Original Jurisdiction Application. 

In October 2022, Cal Am announced a phasing plan for the proposed desalination plant component of the Water Supply Project. The desalination plant 
and slant wells originally approved by the CPUC would produce up to 6.4 million gallons of desalinated water per day. Under the phased approach, the 
facilities would initially be constructed to produce up to 4.8 million gallons per day of desalinated water, enough to meet anticipated demand through about 
2030, and would limit the number of slant wells initially constructed. As demand increases in the future, desalination facilities would be expanded to meet the 
additional demand. The phased approach seeks to meet near-term demand by allowing for additional supply as it becomes needed, while also providing an 
opportunity for regional future public participation and was developed by Cal Am based on feedback received from the community. 

In November 2022, the Coastal Commission approved the Marina Application and the Original Jurisdiction Application with respect to the phased 
development of the proposed desalination plant, subject to compliance with a number of conditions, all of which Cal Am expects to satisfy. Cal Am continues 
to seek the remaining permits necessary to construct the Water Supply Project. 
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In December 2022, the City, Marina Coast Water District ("MCWD"), MCWD's groundwater sustainability agency ("GSA"), and the MPWMD jointly 
filed a petition for writ of mandate in Monterey County Superior Court against the Coastal Commission, alleging that the Coastal Commission violated the 
California Coastal Act and the California Environmental Quality Act in issuing a coastal development permit to Cal Am for construction of the MPWSP slant 
wells. Cal Am is named as a real party in interest. On November 14, 2023, the court set an initial trial date of May 1, 2024. This matter remains pending. 

Subject to the impact or resolution of this litigation, construction of the desalination plant is expected to begin in 2025 and the desalination plant is 
estimated to be in-service by the end of 2027. 

Desalination Plant Development Permit 

The proposed desalination plant for the Water Supply Project is to be located in an unincorporated portion of Monterey County, California, on a site 
owned by CEMEX, Inc. ("CEMEX"), and requires a combined development permit from Monterey County prior to commencement of construction. In April 
2019, Monterey County's Planning Commission voted to approve the permit. In July 2019, the Board of Supervisors heard appeals filed by MCWD and a 
public advocacy group, at which time it denied the appeals and approved the permit. In August 2019, MCWD filed a petition in Monterey County Superior 
Court challenging Monterey County's approval of Cal Am's combined development permit application and seeking injunctive relief to enjoin Monterey County 
and Cal Am from commencing construction of the desalination plant. In October 2019, after a hearing, the court denied, without prejudice, MCWD's motion 
for a preliminary injunction, but issued a stay of Monterey County's approval of the combined development permit, precluding commencement of physical 
construction of the desalination plant, but allowing Cal Am to continue to obtain permits needed for the desalination plant's construction. In January 2021, the 
court issued its decision granting in part and denying in part MCWD's petition. The court found that Monterey County did not completely comply with all of 
the requirements necessary to approve the combined development permit and set aside its approval so that Monterey County could come into compliance. The 
court denied all of MCWD's other claims. The court also lifted its stay on physical construction at the plant site. 

In May 2021, Cal Am filed a notice of appeal as to the Monterey County Superior Court's January 2021 decision, seeking to challenge the court's 
decision on Monterey County's statement of overriding considerations. Monterey County filed a notice of appeal as to the same issue in May 2021. In June 
2021, MCWD filed cross-appeals on its claims that had been denied by the court. On September 8, 2023, the court of appeal issued its opinion reversing the 
trial court's determination in favor of MCWD as to the statement of overriding considerations and rejecting MCWD's appeals on all of its claims that the 
Monterey County Superior Court had denied. On September 25, 2023, MCWD filed a petition for rehearing in the court of appeal, which was denied on 
October 4, 2023. On November 13, 2023, MCWD filed a petition for review in the California Supreme Court, which was denied on January 10, 2024. 

Proposed Zoning Changes at CEMEX Site for Slant Wells 

In August 2018, the City circulated a public review draft of proposed amendments to its local coastal program and zoning ordinance, and placed the 
matter for consideration on the Planning Commission's agenda for its September 2018 meeting. The proposed amendments would change zoning at the 
CEMEX site to open space and restrict future uses, including with respect to Cal Am's planned use of the site for the slant wells for the Water Supply Project. 
Any change to the City's local coastal program must ultimately be approved by the Coastal Commission. Cal Am, CEMEX and the Coastal Commission each 
submitted letters opposing the proposed amendments. At its November 2018 meeting, the Planning Commission adopted a resolution recommending that the 
Marina City Council consider approving the amendments. 

In December 2018, the Marina City Council considered the proposed amendments. Cal Am, CEMEX and the Coastal Commission again submitted 
letters opposing the proposed changes, but the City Council unanimously adopted a resolution amending its local coastal plan and a draft amendment to its 
zoning ordinance. Changes to the ordinance require a second reading before becoming final, which occurred at the City's December 2018 meeting. The 
changes to the local coastal plan would need to be submitted to the Coastal Commission for approval; however, the Coastal Commission's November 2022 
approval of Cal Am's coastal development permit application has rendered moot the impact of these proposed local coastal program and zoning changes on the 
issuance of the coastal development permit. 

Test Slant Well Permitting 

A preliminary step to building the Water Supply Project desalination plant is the construction and operation of a test slant well to confirm the suitability 
of the property on which intake wells will be located to draw water from under Monterey Bay. In November 2014, the Coastal Commission approved coastal 
development permits for the test slant well, enabling Cal Am to construct and operate the test slant well. Effective February 28, 2018, test slant well pumping 
ceased, except for minimal maintenance pumping activities, in accordance with Cal Am's coastal development permits. Because Cal Am may use the test slant 
well as one of the slant wells for the Water Supply Project, Cal Am sought and obtained from the Coastal Commission permit amendments to allow the test 
slant well to remain in place and be maintained until February 28, 2025. A required lease obtained from the California State Lands Commission, as amended, 
expires on December 16, 2027. 
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Water Supply Project Land Acquisition and Slant Well Site Use 

In July 2017, the Coastal Commission adopted a consent agreement and cease and desist order requiring sand mining operations on the property owned 
by CEMEX on which intake wells for the Water Supply Project will be located, to cease by the end of 2020 and the property to be sold to either a non-profit or 
governmental entity. The consent agreement strictly limits future use of the property but preserves Cal Am's existing property rights and allows uses consistent 
with existing easements and other rights of record. A permanent easement granted by CEMEX to Cal Am was recorded in June 2018 to allow Cal Am access to 
the property and to construct, operate and maintain the Water Supply Project intake wells. In November 2019, the City notified CEMEX that, based on this 
permanent easement and Cal Am's proposed use of the site for the intake wells, CEMEX has breached or will soon breach a prior 1996 annexation agreement 
(to which Cal Am was not a party). The City states that it intends to seek declaratory relief from CEMEX and Cal Am ordering that Cal Am's extraction is 
limited to 500 acre-feet per year of groundwater, that Cal Am cannot export extracted water out of the basin, and that the permanent easement granted by 
CEMEX to Cal Am is void. CEMEX has denied the City's claims and requested indemnification from Cal Am under the terms of the permanent easement. Cal 
Am and CEMEX believe that there is no valid limitation under the annexation agreement on Cal Am's right to pump brackish groundwater and seawater at the 
site for desalination and use by Cal Am's customers. 

In May 2020, the City filed a lawsuit in Monterey County Superior Court, naming Cal Am and CEMEX as defendants, and MCWRA and MCWD as 
real parties in interest. The lawsuit, as amended, alleges a claim for breach of contract against CEMEX and seeks declaratory relief to void the permanent 
easement and prohibiting extraction of water by Cal Am's slant wells at the CEMEX site in excess of 500 acre-feet per year and the export of such water 
outside the groundwater basin. In November 2020, Cal Am, CEMEX and MCWRA filed demurrers, which were overruled by the court at a hearing held in 
February 2021. 

In August 2020, MCWD filed a cross-complaint in the May 2020 lawsuit against Cal Am, CEMEX and MCWRA, alleging claims for specific 
performance of certain provisions of the 1996 annexation agreement related to the property owned by CEMEX on which intake wells for the Water Supply 
Project will be located, as well as claims of water rights, nuisance and unreasonable water use, and seeking additional declaratory relief. Following various 
rulings on demurrers filed by Cal Am, CEMEX and MCWRA, in February 2021, the court sustained, without leave to amend, the demurrer to MCWD's 
nuisance claim and overruled the remainder of the demurrers. In October 2021, the court granted a motion filed by Cal Am related to MCWD's cross-
complaint, which motion requested a referral of certain issues related to MCWD's water rights and unreasonable use claims to the SWRCB for its expert 
advisory opinion. The SWRCB held hearings in 2022 and 2023, on the referred issues before its Administrative Hearing Officer. The Monterey County 
Superior Court has set a trial date of July 15, 2024, for the City's lawsuit. 

Challenges Related to Compliance with California's Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 

Under California's Sustainable Groundwater Management Act ("SGMA") enacted in 2015, groundwater basins designated by the state as critically 
overdrafted must be managed by a GSA by 2020 in accordance with an approved groundwater sustainability plan ("GSP") designed to achieve sustainability by 
2040. Under the SGMA, GSAs have broad powers to achieve sustainability including, but not limited to, regulating groundwater extraction by imposing fees 
on groundwater extractions and controlling groundwater extractions by regulating, limiting or suspending extractions from wells. The 400-acre CEMEX site 
overlies a small portion of the 180/400 Subbasin of the Salinas Valley Groundwater Basin; the 84,000-acre 180/400 Subbasin has been designated by the state 
as critically overdrafted, mainly due to seawater intrusion into the subbasin. 

In late 2016, the Salinas Valley Basin Groundwater Sustainability Agency (the "SVBGSA") was formed as a joint powers authority to become the GSA 
for the Salinas Valley Groundwater Basin and prepare a GSP. In April 2018, the City filed a notice to become the GSA for the CEMEX site, creating an overlap 
with the SVBGSA's filing for the 180/400 Subbasin. In 2016, the SVBGSA commenced preparation of a GSP covering the entire 180/400 subbasin, including 
the CEMEX site, but in August 2019 the City filed a notice that it intends to prepare its own GSP for the CEMEX site with the intent to severely limit or 
prohibit groundwater pumping at that site. The State Department of Water Resources ("SDWR") has taken the position that until the overlap is resolved, it will 
not accept the GSP from either agency, placing the subbasin at risk of being placed in a probationary status and subject to state management. In December 
2019, the County of Monterey filed its own notice to become the exclusive GSA at the CEMEX site in order to resolve the overlap, which is permitted under 
SGMA. SDWR accepted Monterey County's filing in December 2019, and now lists Monterey County as the exclusive GSA for the site. 
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In December 2019, the City filed a lawsuit in Monterey County Superior Court challenging Monterey County's filing, and SDWR's acceptance of the 
filing, as the exclusive GSA for the CEMEX site. The City has named Monterey County and its Board of Supervisors, its GSA, and SDWR and its director as 
defendants, and the SVBGSA and its Board of Directors as real parties. The City seeks to invalidate Monterey County's filing, as well as injunctive relief to 
preserve the City's status as a GSA for the site. To protect its interest in the matter, Cal Am filed an application to intervene in this lawsuit, which was granted. 
Monterey County filed cross-claims against the City and SDWR. In September 2020, Cal Am filed a separate but related complaint in Monterey County 
Superior Court challenging the validity of actions taken by the City and its GSA in adopting a groundwater sustainability plan for the CEMEX site, and the 
validity of the provisions of such plan. Due to the overlap of issues in the City's lawsuit with those in the validation action, the parties stipulated to a stay of the 
validation action pending determination of the claims in the City's action, which was approved by the court in December 2020. In February 2021, the City filed 
a separate but related in rem reverse validation complaint challenging the adoption by Monterey County of a GSP for the CEMEX site. On May 3, 2023, the 
City filed a second reverse validation complaint, challenging the adoption of amendments to the GSP for the 180/400 subbasin. 

After a hearing, in August 2021, the court denied the claims brought by the City and granted Monterey County's cross-claims, finding that the City's 
GSA notice was untimely, the Monterey County GSA was the exclusive GSA for the CEMEX site, and the SVBGSA's GSP was properly adopted for the entire 
180/400 subbasin, including the CEMEX site. In November 2021, the City appealed this decision, and in December 2021, Monterey County appealed the 
court's decision as to the finding that the City's action creating a GSA was not void. The related validation and reverse validation actions remain stayed during 
the pendency of the appeal. On November 13, 2023, the California Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision. On December 22, 2023, the City filed a 
petition for review with the California Supreme Court. 

Proposed Acquisition of Monterey System Assets — Potential Condemnation 

Local Agency Formation Commission Litigation 

In November 2018, voters in Monterey, California passed "Measure J," which decided that the MPWMD should conduct a feasibility study concerning 
the potential purchase of Cal Am's Monterey system assets, and, if feasible, to proceed with a purchase of those assets without an additional public vote. This 
service territory represents approximately 40,000 customers. In 2019, the MPWMD issued a preliminary valuation and cost of service analysis report, finding 
in part that (1) an estimate of the Monterey system assets' total value plus adjustments would be approximately $513 million, (2) the cost of service modeling 
results indicate significant annual reductions in revenue requirements and projected monthly water bills, and (3) the acquisition of the Monterey system assets 
by the MPWMD would be economically feasible. In 2020, the MPWMD certified a final environmental impact report, analyzing the environmental impacts of 
the MPWMD's project to (1) acquire the Monterey system assets through the power of eminent domain, if necessary, and (2) expand its geographic boundaries 
to include all parts of this system. 

In February 2021, the MPWMD filed an application with the Local Agency Formation Commission of Monterey County ("LAFCO") seeking approval 
to become a retail water provider and annex approximately 58 parcels of land into the MPWMD's boundaries. In June 2021, LAFCO's commissioners voted to 
require a third-party independent financial study as to the feasibility of an acquisition by the MPWMD of the Monterey system assets. In December 2021, 
LAFCO's commissioners denied the MPWMD's application to become a retail water provider, determining that the MPWMD does not have the authority to 
proceed with a condemnation of the Monterey system assets. In April 2022, the MPWMD filed a lawsuit against LAFCO challenging its decision to deny the 
MPWMD's application seeking approval to become a retail water provider. In June 2022, the court granted, with conditions, a motion by Cal Am to intervene 
in the MPWMD's lawsuit against LAFCO. In December 2022, the court sustained in part, and denied in part, demurrers that had been filed by LAFCO seeking 
to dismiss the MPWMD's lawsuit. 

On December 11, 2023, the Monterey County Superior Court issued a writ of mandate directing LAFCO to vacate and set aside its original denial of the 
MPWMD's application to serve as a retail water provider (in conjunction with its effort to acquire the Monterey water system assets) and allowing the 
MPWMD to seek further LAFCO review of its application in compliance with all applicable law. The court held that LAFCO incorrectly applied two statutory 
standards and noted a lack of sufficient evidence to support certain of LAFCO's factual findings. As a result, the LAFCO denial has been nullified and LAFCO 
will be required to hold another hearing on the MPWMD's application. On February 8, 2024, and February 9, 2024, each of Cal Am and LAFCO, respectively, 
filed a notice of appeal with the California Court of Appeals regarding the Monterey County Superior Court's decision to issue the writ of mandate. Cal Am is 
evaluating potential additional actions to contest the writ of mandate and to seek to uphold LAFCO's denial of the MPWMD's application, including filing 
other challenges and/or making suitable presentations at a subsequent LAFCO rehearing. 
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Potential Condemnation Actions by MPWMD 

Separate from the proceedings related to the MPWMD's application with LAFCO, by letter dated October 3, 2022, the MPWMD notified Cal Am of a 
decision to appraise the Monterey system assets and requesting access to a number of Cal Am's properties and documents to assist the MPWMD with such an 
appraisal. Cal Am responded by letter on October 24, 2022, denying the request for access, stating that the MPWMD does not have the right to appraise Cal 
Am's system without LAFCO approval to become a retail water provider. On April 28, 2023, Cal Am rejected an offer by the MPWMD to purchase the 
Monterey system assets for $448.8 million. Over the written and oral objections of Cal Am, at a hearing held on October 10, 2023, the MPWMD adopted a 
resolution of necessity to authorize it to file an eminent domain lawsuit with respect to the Monterey system assets. 

On December 15, 2023, the MPWMD filed a lawsuit in Monterey County Superior Court seeking to condemn the Monterey system assets. While the 
Company cannot currently predict the outcome of this lawsuit, the Company believes that, given existing legal precedent related to similar attempts by public 
agencies in California to take over water systems and its other defenses, Cal Am should be able to defend itself successfully against the MPWMD's eminent 
domain lawsuit. 

Dunbar, West Virginia Water Main Break Class Action Litigation 

On the evening of June 23, 2015, a 36-inch pre-stressed concrete transmission water main, installed in the early 1970s, failed. The water main is part of 
the West Relay pumping station located in the City of Dunbar, West Virginia and owned by West Virginia-American Water Company, the Company's West 
Virginia subsidiary ("WVAWC"). The failure of the main caused water outages and low pressure for up to approximately 25,000 WVAWC customers. In the 
early morning hours of June 25, 2015, crews completed a repair, but that same day, the repair developed a leak. On June 26, 2015, a second repair was 
completed and service was restored that day to approximately 80% of the impacted customers, and to the remaining approximately 20% by the next morning. 
The second repair showed signs of leaking but the water main was usable until June 29, 2015, to allow tanks to refill. The system was reconfigured to maintain 
service to all but approximately 3,000 customers while a final repair was being completed safely on June 30, 2015. Water service was fully restored on July 1, 
2015, to all customers affected by this event. 

On June 2, 2017, a complaint captioned Jeffries, et al. v. West Virginia-American Water Company was filed in West Virginia Circuit Court in Kanawha 
County on behalf of an alleged class of residents and business owners who lost water service or pressure as a result of the Dunbar main break. The complaint 
alleges breach of contract by WVAWC for failure to supply water, violation of West Virginia law regarding the sufficiency of WVAWC's facilities and 
negligence by WVAWC in the design, maintenance and operation of the water system. The Jeffries plaintiffs seek unspecified alleged damages on behalf of the 
class for lost profits, annoyance and inconvenience, and loss of use, as well as punitive damages for willful, reckless and wanton behavior in not addressing the 
risk of pipe failure and a large outage. 

In February 2020, the Jeffries plaintiffs filed a motion seeking class certification on the issues of breach of contract and negligence, and to determine the 
applicability of punitive damages and a multiplier for those damages if imposed. In July 2020, the Circuit Court entered an order granting the Jeffries plaintiffs' 
motion for certification of a class regarding certain liability issues but denying certification of a class to determine a punitive damages multiplier. In August 
2020, WVAWC filed a Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia seeking to vacate or remand the Circuit Court's order 
certifying the issues class. In January 2021, the Supreme Court of Appeals remanded the case back to the Circuit Court for further consideration in light of a 
decision issued in another case relating to the class certification issues raised on appeal. In July 2022, the Circuit Court entered an order again certifying a class 
to address at trial certain liability issues but not to consider damages. In August 2022, WVAWC filed another Petition for Writ of Prohibition in the Supreme 
Court of Appeals of West Virginia challenging the West Virginia Circuit Court's July 2022 order, which petition was denied on June 8, 2023. On August 21, 
2023, the Circuit Court set a date of September 9, 2024, for a class trial on issues relating to duty and breach of that duty. The trial will not find class-wide or 
punitive damages. 

The Company and WVAWC believe that WVAWC has meritorious defenses to the claims raised in this class action complaint and WVAWC will 
continue to vigorously defend itself against these allegations. 

Chattanooga, Tennessee Class Action Litigation 

On September 12, 2019, Tennessee-American Water Company, the Company's Tennessee subsidiary ("TAWC"), experienced a leak in a 36-inch water 
transmission main, which caused service fluctuations or interruptions to TAWC customers and the issuance of a boil water notice. TAWC repaired the main by 
early morning on September 14, 2019, and restored full water service by the afternoon of September 15, 2019, with the boil water notice lifted for all customers 
on September 16, 2019. 

45 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 706 of 2266



Table of Contents 

On September 17, 2019, a complaint captioned Bruce, et al. v. American Water Works Company, Inc., et al. was filed in the Circuit Court of Hamilton 
County, Tennessee against TAWC, the Company and Service Company (collectively, the "Tennessee-American Water Defendants"), on behalf of a proposed 
class of individuals or entities who lost water service or suffered monetary losses as a result of the Chattanooga incident (the "Tennessee Plaintiffs"). The 
complaint alleged breach of contract and negligence against the Tennessee-American Water Defendants, as well as an equitable remedy of piercing the 
corporate veil. In the complaint as originally filed, the Tennessee Plaintiffs were seeking an award of unspecified alleged damages for wage losses, business 
and economic losses, out-of-pocket expenses, loss of use and enjoyment of property and annoyance and inconvenience, as well as punitive damages, attorneys' 
fees and pre- and post-judgment interest. In September 2020, the court dismissed all of the Tennessee Plaintiffs' claims in their complaint, except for the breach 
of contract claims against TAWC, which remain pending. In October 2020, TAWC answered the complaint, and the parties have been engaging in discovery. 
On January 12, 2023, after hearing oral argument, the court issued an oral ruling denying the Tennessee Plaintiffs' motion for class certification. On February 9, 
2023, the Tennessee Plaintiffs sought reconsideration of the ruling by the court, and any final ruling is appealable to the Tennessee Court of Appeals, as allowed 
under Tennessee law. On September 21, 2023, the court upheld its prior ruling but gave the Tennessee Plaintiffs the option to file an amended class definition. 
On October 12, 2023, the Tennessee Plaintiffs filed an amended class definition seeking certification of a business customer-only class. On December 1, 2023, 

TAWC filed a memorandum in opposition to the amended class definition. On January 18, 2024, the court heard oral argument on the motions but issued no 
decision. The court instead requested additional briefing and a second oral argument, deadlines for which have not yet been set. 

TAWC and the Company believe that TAWC has meritorious defenses to the claims raised in this class action complaint, and TAWC is vigorously 
defending itself against these allegations. 

Mountaineer Gas Company Main Break 

During the afternoon of November 10, 2023, WVAWC was informed that an 8-inch ductile iron water main owned by WVAWC, located on the West 
Side of Charleston, West Virginia and originally installed in approximately 1989, experienced a leak. In the early morning hours of November 11, 2023, 
WVAWC crews successfully completed a repair to the water main. A precautionary boil water advisory was issued the same day to approximately 300 
WVAWC customers and ultimately lifted on November 12, 2023. 

On November 10, 2023, a break was reported in a low-pressure natural gas main located near the affected WVAWC water main break, and an inflow of 
water into the natural gas main and associated delivery pipelines occurred. The natural gas main and pipelines are owned by Mountaineer Gas Company, a 
regulated natural gas distribution company serving over 220,000 customers in West Virginia ("Mountaineer Gas"). The resulting inflow of water into the 
natural gas main and related pipelines resulted in a loss of natural gas service to approximately 1,100 Mountaineer Gas customers, as well as water entering 
customer service lines and certain natural gas appliances owned or used by some of the affected Mountaineer Gas customers. Mountaineer Gas reported that 
restoration of natural gas service to all affected gas mains occurred on November 24, 2023. The timing, order and causation of both the WVAWC water main 
break and Mountaineer Gas's main break are currently unknown and under investigation. 

To date, a total of four pending lawsuits have been filed against Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC purportedly on behalf of customers in Charleston, West 
Virginia related to these incidents. On November 14, 2023, a complaint captioned Ruffin et al. v. Mountaineer Gas Company and West Virginia-American 
Water Company was filed in West Virginia Circuit Court in Kanawha County on behalf of an alleged class of Mountaineer Gas residential and business 
customers and other households and businesses supplied with natural gas in Kanawha County, which lost natural gas service on November 10, 2023, as a result 
of these events. The complaint alleges, among other things, breach of contract by Mountaineer Gas, trespass by WVAWC, nuisance by WVAWC, violation of 
statutory obligations by Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC, and negligence by Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC. The complaint seeks class-wide damages against 
Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC for loss of use of natural gas, annoyance, inconvenience and lost profits, as well as punitive damages. 

On November 15, 2023, a complaint captioned Toliver et al. v. West Virginia-American Water Company and Mountaineer Gas Company was filed in 
West Virginia Circuit Court in Kanawha County on behalf of an alleged class of all natural persons or entities who are citizens of the State of West Virginia and 
who are customers of WVAWC and/or Mountaineer Gas in the affected areas. The complaint alleges against Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC, among other 
things, negligence, nuisance, trespass and strict liability, as well as breach of contract against Mountaineer Gas. The complaint seeks class-wide damages 
against Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC for property damage, loss of use and enjoyment of property, annoyance and inconvenience and business losses, as well 
as punitive damages. 
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On November 16, 2023, a complaint captioned Dodson et al. v. West Virginia American Water and Mountaineer Gas Company was filed in West Virginia 
Circuit Court in Kanawha County on behalf of an alleged class of all West Virginia citizens living between Pennsylvania Avenue south of Washington Street, 
and Iowa Street, who are customers of Mountaineer Gas. The complaint alleges against Mountaineer Gas and WVAWC, among other things, negligence, 
nuisance, trespass, statutory code violations and unfair or deceptive business practices. The complaint seeks class-wide damages against Mountaineer Gas and 
WVAWC for property loss and damage, loss of use and enjoyment of property, mental and emotional distress, and aggravation and inconvenience, as well as 
punitive damages. 

On January 4, 2024, a fourth complaint, captioned Thomas v. West Virginia-American Water Company and Mountaineer Gas Company, was filed in 
West Virginia Circuit Court in Kanawha County asserting similar allegations as those included in the Ruffin, Toliver and Dodson lawsuits (the "first three 
lawsuits"), with the addition of counts alleging unjust enrichment and violations of the West Virginia Human Rights Act and the West Virginia Consumer Credit 
and Protection Act. 

On November 17, 2023, the Ruffin plaintiff filed a motion to consolidate the first three lawsuits before a single judge in Kanawha County Circuit Court. 
That motion remains pending. 

On December 5, 2023, a complaint captioned Mountaineer Gas Company v. West Virginia-American Water Company was filed in West Virginia Circuit 
Court in Kanawha County seeking damages under theories of trespass, negligence and implied indemnity. The damages being sought related to the incident 
include, among other things, repair and response costs incurred by Mountaineer Gas and attorneys' fees and expenses incurred by Mountaineer Gas. On 
December 14, 2023, Mountaineer Gas filed a motion with the Supreme Court of West Virginia to transfer this case to the West Virginia Business Court. On 
December 29, 2023, WVAWC filed a joinder in the motion to transfer the case. WVAWC has also filed a partial motion to dismiss this lawsuit. These motions 
remain pending. 

On December 20, 2023, Mountaineer Gas filed answers to each of the first three lawsuits, which included cross-claims against WVAWC alleging that 
Mountaineer Gas is without fault for the claims and damages alleged in the lawsuits and WVAWC should be required to indemnify Mountaineer Gas for any 
damages and for attorneys' fees and expenses incurred by Mountaineer Gas in the lawsuits. WVAWC has filed a partial motion to dismiss certain claims in the 
Ruffin, Toliver, Dodson and Thomas lawsuits and a motion to dismiss the cross-claims asserted against WVAWC therein by Mountaineer Gas. On January 30, 
2024, a motion was filed with the West Virginia Supreme Court on behalf of the Toliver plaintiff to refer the four class action complaints and the Mountaineer 
Gas complaint to the West Virginia Mass Litigation Panel. On February 7, 2024, WVAWC filed a motion joining in that referral request. These motions remain 
pending. 

On December 6, 2023, WVAWC initiated a process whereby Mountaineer Gas customers could file claims with WVAWC and seek payment from 
WVAWC of up to $2,000 per affected household for the inconvenience arising from a loss of use of their appliances and documented out-of-pocket expenses as 
a result of the natural gas outage. As of January 31, 2024, a total of 412 Mountaineer Gas customers completed this claims process and were paid by WVAWC 
an average of approximately $1,500 each. In return, these customers were required to execute a partial release of liability in favor of WVAWC. 

On November 16, 2023, the Public Service Commission of West Virginia (the "WVPSC") issued an order initiating a general investigation into both the 
water main break and natural gas outages occurring in this incident to determine the cause or causes thereof, as well as breaks and outages generally throughout 
the systems of WVAWC and Mountaineer Gas and the utility practices of both utilities. Following a series of disagreements among the parties regarding the 
scope of discovery, the WVPSC closed the general investigation into both utilities and ordered a separate general investigation for each utility. The WVPSC 
focused the two general investigations away from the cause of the events and instead on the maintenance practices of each utility during and after the main 
breaks. On January 29, 2024, the Consumer Advocate Division of the WVPSC filed a motion to intervene in the WVAWC general investigation. WVAWC is 
cooperating with its general investigation. Both general investigations remain pending. 

The Company and WVAWC believe that the causes of action and other claims asserted against WVAWC in the class action complaints and the lawsuit 
filed by Mountaineer Gas are without merit and that WVAWC has meritorious defenses to such claims, and WVAWC is defending itself vigorously in these 
litigation proceedings. Given the current stage of these proceedings and the general investigation, the Company and WVAWC are currently unable to predict 
the outcome of any of the proceedings described above. 

West Virginia Elk River Freedom Industries Chemical Spill 

See Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies—Contingencies—West Virginia Elk River Freedom Industries Chemical Spill in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the fmal court approval of the global settlement with respect to the January 2014 Freedom 
Industries, Inc. chemical spill. 
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PFAS Multi-District Litigation 

Several of the Company's utility subsidiaries are parties to a multi-district litigation (the "MDL") lawsuit, which commenced on December 7, 2018, in 
U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina, against manufacturers of certain PFAS for damages, contribution and reimbursement of costs incurred 
and continuing to be incurred to address the presence of such PFAS in public water supply systems owned and operated by these utility subsidiaries and 
throughout their service areas. In August 2023, a potential class action settlement involving defendants The Chemours Company, Corteva, Inc. and DuPont de 
Nemours, Inc. to resolve claims brought in the MDL against them by public water systems, and a similar class action settlement with defendant 3M Company, 
received preliminary approval from the MDL court. The Company's utility subsidiaries have determined to remain parties to these class action settlements. On 
February 8, 2024, after a hearing on December 14, 2023, the MDL court issued its final approval of the DuPont settlement, and the Company will begin the 
process of perfecting its claims under this settlement within the time period to be provided by the MDL court. A fairness hearing on the 3M settlement was held 
on February 2, 2024. This matter remains pending. 

Other Matters 

In April 2021, American Water Resources, LLC ("AWR"), which, prior to the December 2021 sale of the Company's former Homeowner Services 
Group business ("HOS") was one of the indirect, wholly owned subsidiaries comprising that business, received a grand jury subpoena in connection with an 
investigation by the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New York (the "EDNY"). The subpoena sought documents regarding AWR's operations 
and its contractor network in the New York City metropolitan area. In September 2022, a former employee of AWR pled guilty in U.S. District Court to two 
felony counts in connection with the matters under investigation by the EDNY. The Company fully cooperated with the EDNY investigation. There are 
currently no pending requests from the EDNY for additional information and the Company has not been contacted by the EDNY about the investigation since 
July 2023. While the EDNY has not formally communicated that its investigation is complete, the Company does not believe that the investigation will have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial condition or liquidity. 

General 

Periodically, the Company is involved in other proceedings or litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Other than those proceedings 
described in this Item 3—Legal Proceedings, the Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will materially affect its financial 
position or results of operations. However, litigation and other proceedings are subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of individual matters is not 
predictable with assurance. It is possible that some litigation and other proceedings could be decided unfavorably to the Company, and that any such 
unfavorable decisions could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF 
EQUITY SECURITIES 

Since April 23, 2008, the Company's common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "AWK." As of 
February 6, 2024, there were 194,755,320 shares of common stock outstanding held by approximately 2,101 record holders. Holders of the Company's 
common stock are entitled to receive dividends when they are declared by its Board of Directors. See Note 9—Shareholders' Equity in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the Company's dividends. 

In February 2015, the Board of Directors authorized an anti-dilutive stock repurchase program to mitigate the dilutive effect of shares issued through the 
Company's dividend reinvestment, employee stock purchase and executive compensation activities. The program allows the Company to purchase up to 10 
million shares of its outstanding common stock over an unrestricted period of time in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. The 
program is conducted in accordance with Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act, and, to facilitate these repurchases, the Company enters into Rule 10b5-1 stock 
repurchase plans with a third-party broker, which allow the Company to repurchase shares of its common stock at times when it otherwise might be prevented 
from doing so under insider trading laws or because of self-imposed trading blackout periods. Subject to applicable regulations, the Company may elect to 
amend or cancel the program or the stock repurchase parameters at its discretion to manage dilution. 

From April 1, 2015, the date repurchases under the anti-dilutive stock repurchase program commenced, through December 31, 2023, the Company 
repurchased an aggregate of 4,860,000 shares of its common stock under the program, leaving an aggregate of 5,140,000 shares available for repurchase under 
this program. There were no repurchases of common stock in 2023. 

ITEM 6. [RESERVED] 

49 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 710 of 2266



Table of Contents 

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following discussion should be read together with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on management's current expectations, estimates and projections 
about the Company's business, operations and financial performance. The cautionary statements made in this Form 10-K should be read as applying to all 
related forward-looking statements whenever they appear in this Form 10-K The Company's actual results may differ materially from those currently 
anticipated and expressed in such forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors, including those that are discussed under "Forward-Looking 
Statements," Item 1A Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Form 10-K The Company has a disclosure committee consisting of members of senior management 
and other key employees involved in the preparation of the Company's SEC reports. The disclosure committee is actively involved in the review and discussion 
of the Company's SEC filings. For a discussion and analysis of the Company's financial statements for fiscal 2022 compared to fiscal 2021, please refer to Item 
7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on February 15, 2023. 

Overview 

American Water is the largest and most geographically diverse, publicly-traded water and wastewater utility company in the United States, as measured 
by both operating revenues and population served. The Company employs approximately 6,500 professionals who provide drinking water, wastewater and 
other related services to over 14 million people in 24 states. The Company's primary business involves the ownership of utilities that provide water and 
wastewater services to residential, commercial, industrial, public authority, fire service and sale for resale customers, collectively presented as the "Regulated 
Businesses." The Company's utilities operate in approximately 1,700 communities in 14 states in the United States, with 3.5 million active customers with 
services provided by its water and wastewater networks. Services provided by the Company's utilities are subject to regulation by PUCs. The Company also 
operates other businesses not subject to economic regulation by state PUCs that provide water and wastewater services to the U.S. government on military 
installations, as well as municipalities, collectively presented throughout this Form 10-K within "Other." See Item 1—Business for additional information. 

Selected Financial Data 

This selected financial data below should be read in conjunction with the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K as well as the remainder of this Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 

(In millions, except per share data) 

Statement of Operations data: 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 

Operating revenues $ 4,234 $ 3,792 $ 3,930 $ 3,777 $ 3,610 
Net income attributable to common shareholders 944 820 1,263 709 621 

Net income attributable to common shareholders per 
basic common share 4.90 4.51 6.96 3.91 3.44 
Net income attributable to common shareholders per 
diluted common share 4.90 4.51 6.95 3.91 3.43 

Balance Sheet data: 
Total assets $ 30,298 $ 27,787 $ 26,075 $ 24,766 $ 22,682 

Long-term debt and redeemable preferred stock at 
redemption value 11,718 10,929 10,344 9,333 8,644 

Other data: 

Cash dividends declared per common share $ 2.83 $ 2.62 $ 2.41 $ 2.20 $ 2.00 
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,874 1,108 1,441 1,426 1,383 
Net cash used in investing activities (2,815) (2,127) (1,536) (2,061) (1,945) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,188 1,000 (345) 1,120 494 

Capital expenditures included in net cash used in 
investing activities (2,575) (2,297) (1,764) (1,822) (1,654) 
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Financial Results 

For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, diluted earnings per share (GAAP) were $4.90, $4.51 and $6.95, respectively. In 2023, as 
compared to 2022, diluted earnings per share increased $0.39. The increase was primarily driven by the implementation of new rates in the Regulated 
Businesses for the return on and recovery of capital and acquisition investments, offset somewhat by increased operating costs, primarily production costs from 
inflationary pressures, and higher pension costs. Results for 2023 reflect the net favorable impact of wanner, drier weather compared to normal, estimated at 
$0.13 per share, while results for 2022 reflect the net favorable impact of weather compared to normal, estimated at $0.06 per share. Results for 2023 also 
reflect the impact of share dilution from the equity financing of $0.29 per share, roughly equivalent to avoided interest expense on the year. 

Growth Through Capital Investment in Infrastructure and Regulated Acquisitions 

The Company continues to grow its businesses, with the substantial majority of its growth to be achieved in the Regulated Businesses through (i) 
continued capital investment in the Company's infrastructure to provide safe, clean, reliable and affordable water and wastewater services to its customers, and 
(ii) regulated acquisitions to expand the Company's services to new customers. In 2023, the Company invested $2.7 billion, in the Regulated Businesses, as 
discussed below: 

Regulated Businesses Growth and Optimization 

$2.6 billion capital investment in the Regulated Businesses, the substantial majority for infrastructure improvements and replacements; and 

$81 million to fund acquisitions, including deposits for pending acquisitions, in the Regulated Businesses, which added approximately 18,100 
customers during 2023, in addition to approximately 18,800 customers added through organic growth during 2023. This includes the Company's 
New Jersey subsidiary's acquisition of the water and wastewater assets of Egg Harbor City on June 1, 2023, for a cash purchase price of $22 
million, $2 million of which was funded as a deposit to the seller in March 2021 in connection with the execution of the acquisition agreement. 

On April 6, 2023, the Company's Illinois subsidiary entered into an agreement to acquire the wastewater treatment plant from Granite City for an 
amended purchase price of $86 million. This plant provides wastewater service for approximately 26,000 customer connections. The Company expects to close 
this acquisition in the first quarter of 2024. 

Effective March 24, 2023, the Company's Pennsylvania subsidiary acquired the rights to buy the wastewater system assets of the Township of 
Towamencin, for an aggregate purchase price of $104 million, subject to adjustment as provided in the asset purchase agreement. This system provides 
wastewater services to approximately 6,300 customer connections in seven townships in Montgomery County, Pennsylvania. The Company expects to close 
this acquisition in late 2024 or early 2025, pending final regulatory approval. 

On October 11, 2022, the Company's Pennsylvania subsidiary entered into an agreement to acquire the public wastewater collection and treatment 
system assets (the "System Assets") from the Butler Area Sewer Authority. On November 9, 2023, the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (the "PaPUC") 
approved a settlement agreement without modification with respect to the Company's Pennsylvania subsidiary's application to acquire the System Assets from 
the Butler Area Sewer Authority for a purchase price of $230 million, subject to adjustment as provided for in the asset purchase agreement. This system 
provides wastewater service for approximately 15,000 customer connections. On December 14, 2023, Center Township and Summit Township filed appeals 
with the Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court seeking to reverse the order entered by the PaPUC approving the sale of the System Assets. On December 29, 
2023, the Company's Pennsylvania subsidiary filed applications with the Commonwealth Court seeking to dismiss the appeals and requesting expedited 
consideration. By order dated February 1, 2024, the Commonwealth Court deferred deciding the application to dismiss the appeals and directed that the issues 
raised by the applications to dismiss are to be considered as part of the merits of the appeals. The order also granted expedited consideration and directed the 
case to be included on the next available list and established a briefing schedule. Based on the court's schedule, the Company estimates that the disposition of 
the appeals could occur as soon as the second quarter of 2024. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had entered into 25 agreements with a total aggregate purchase price of $589 million for pending acquisitions in 
the Regulated Businesses, including the agreements discussed above, to add approximately 88,300 additional customers. 

The Company expects to invest between $16 billion to $17 billion over the next five years, and between $34 billion to $38 billion over the next 10 years, 
including $3.1 billion in 2024. The Company's expected future investments include: 

capital investment for infrastructure improvements in the Regulated Businesses between $14.5 billion to $15 billion over the next five years, and 
between $30 billion to $33 billion over the next 10 years; and 
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growth from acquisitions in the Regulated Businesses to expand the Company's water and wastewater customer base of between $1.5 billion to 
$2 billion over the next five years, and between $4 billion to $5 billion over the next 10 years. 

The Company estimates the expected capital investment for infrastructure improvements in its Regulated Businesses over the next ten years will be 
allocated to the following purposes: infrastructure renewal 68-70%, resiliency 9-11%, water quality, including capital expenditures for the EPA proposed 
regulations on PFAS 6-8%, operational efficiency, technology and innovation 5-7%, system expansion 4-6%, other 3-5%. 

Other Matters 

Environmental, Health and Safety, and Water Quality Regulation 

On March 14, 2023, the EPA announced the proposed National Primary Drinking Water Regulations ("NPDWR") for six PFAS including 
perfluorooctanoic acid ("PFOA"), perfluorooctane sulfonic acid ("PFOS"), perfluorononanoic acid ("PFNA"), hexafluoropropylene oxide dimer acid ("HFPO-
DA", commonly known as "GenX Chemicals"), perfluorohexane sulfonic acid ("PFHxS"), and perfluorobutane sulfonic acid ("PFBS"). The proposed 
regulations would establish legally enforceable levels for PFAS in drinking water. The EPA anticipates issuing a final rule in 2024 and utilities will be provided 
a three-year window to comply with the new regulations once finalized, although the Safe Drinking Water Act allows utilities to request an additional two years 
if capital improvements are required. 

The Company performed an initial review of the NPDWR to assess the four parts per trillion requirements for PFAS and the application of the Hazard 
Index approach for PFNA, PFBS, PFHxS, and GenX Chemicals. On May 24, 2023, the Company submitted comments to the EPA outlining its position on key 
issues to address the proposed regulations, including its projected costs associated with PFAS treatment at the proposed limits and the potential impact to 
customers' bills. The Company estimates an investment of approximately $1 billion of capital expenditures to install additional treatment facilities over a three 
to five-year period in order to comply with the proposed regulations. Additionally, the Company estimates annual operating expenses up to approximately $50 
million related to testing and treatment in today's dollars. These are preliminary estimates based on the proposed rule. The actual expenses may differ from 
these preliminary estimates and will be dependent upon multiple factors, including the fmal rule and effective date, as well as the completion of a system-by-
system engineering analysis. 

The Company supports sound policies and compliance with the NPDWR by all water utilities, while protecting customers and communities from the 
costly burden of monitoring and mitigating PFAS contamination in water systems. The Company continues to advocate for policies that hold polluters 
accountable and is participating in the multi-district litigation and other lawsuits filed against certain PFAS manufacturers seeking damages and reimbursement 
of costs incurred and continuing to be incurred to address contamination of public water supply systems by PFAS. For more information on the PFAS multi-
district litigation, see Item 3—Legal Proceedings—PFAS Multi-District Litigation. 

Operational Excellence 

The Company's adjusted regulated O&M efficiency ratio was 32.8% for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to 33.7% for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. The ratio reflects an increase in operating revenues for the Regulated Businesses, after considering the adjustment for the amortization of 
the excess accumulated deferred income taxes ("EADIT") shown in the table below, as well as the continued focus on operating costs. 

The Company's adjusted regulated O&M efficiency ratio is a non-GAAP measure and is defined by the Company as its operation and maintenance 
expenses from the Regulated Businesses, divided by the operating revenues from the Regulated Businesses, where both operation and maintenance expenses 
and operating revenues were adjusted to eliminate purchased water expense. Operating revenues were further adjusted to exclude reductions for the 
amortization of the EADIT. Also excluded from operation and maintenance expenses is the allocable portion of non-O&M support services costs, mainly 
depreciation and general taxes, which is reflected in the Regulated Businesses segment as operation and maintenance expenses, but for consolidated financial 
reporting purposes, is categorized within other line items in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. The items discussed above were 
excluded from the O&M efficiency ratio calculation as they are not reflective of management's ability to increase the efficiency of the Regulated Businesses. 
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The Company evaluates its operating performance using this ratio, and believes it is useful to investors because it directly measures improvement in the 
operating performance and efficiency of the Regulated Businesses. This information is derived from the Company's consolidated financial information but is 
not presented in its fmancial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. This information supplements and should be read in conjunction with the 
Company's GAAP disclosures, and should be considered as an addition to, and not a substitute for, any GAAP measure. The Company's adjusted regulated 
O&M efficiency ratio (i) is not an accounting measure that is based on GAAP; (ii) is not based on a standard, objective industry definition or method of 
calculation; (iii) may not be comparable to other companies' operating measures; and (iv) should not be used in place of the GAAP information provided 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Presented in the table below is the calculation of the Company's adjusted regulated O&M efficiency ratio and a reconciliation that compares operation 
and maintenance expenses and operating revenues, each as determined in accordance with GAAP, to those amounts utilized in the calculation of 
its adjusted O&M efficiency ratio: 

(Dollars in millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Total operation and maintenance expenses $ 1,720 $ 1,589 $ 1,777 
Less: 

Operation and maintenance expenses Other 279 244 452 

Total operation and maintenance expenses—Regulated Businesses 1,441 1,345 1,325 
Less: 

Regulated purchased water expenses 161 154 153 
Allocation of non-operation and maintenance expenses 25 31 34 

Adjusted operation and maintenance expenses—Regulated Businesses (i) $ 1,255 $ 1,160 $ 1,138 

Total operating revenues 4,234 $ 3,792 $ 3,930 
Less: 

Operating revenues Other 314 287 546 
Total operating revenues—Regulated Businesses 3,920 3,505 3,384 

Less: 
Regulated purchased water revenues (a) 161 154 153 

Revenue reductions from the amortization of EADIT (66) (89) (104) 

Adjusted operating revenues—Regulated Businesses (ii) 3,825 $ 3,440 $ 3,335 

Adjusted O&M efficiency ratio—Regulated Businesses (i) 32.8 % 33.7 % 34.1 % 

(a) The calculation assumes regulated purchased water revenues approximate regulated purchased water expenses. 
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Regulatory Matters 

General Rate Cases 

Presented in the table below are annualized incremental revenues assuming a constant sales volume and customer count, resulting from general rate case 
authorizations that became effective during 2023: 

(In millions) 

General rate cases by state: 
Effective Date Amount 

Missouri May 28, 2023 $ 44 
Virginia April 24, 2023 (a) 11 
Pennsylvania January 28, 2023 138 
Illinois January 1, 2023 67 
California, Step Increase January 1, 2023 13 

Total general rate case authorizations 273 

(a) Interim rates were effective May 1, 2022, and the difference between interim and final approved rates were subject to refund. The Virginia State Corporation Commission issued its final Order 
on April 24, 2023. 

On June 29, 2023, the California Public Utilities Commission ("CPUC") issued a decision on the cost of capital application for the Company's 
California subsidiary, which authorized a return on equity of 8.98% and a capital structure with an equity component of 57.04% for the three-year period from 
2022 to 2024. The CPUC's decision was effective from the date of the order through the end of 2024. The decision included a Water Cost of Capital 
Mechanism (the "WCCM") that allows the California subsidiary to increase its return on equity for the remainder of 2023 and 2024 based on capital market 
rates. As authorized by the WCCM, the California subsidiary filed with the CPUC staff advice letters to increase the return on equity. On July 25, 2023, the 
CPUC staff approved a return on equity of 9.50%, effective July 31, 2023. On November 15, 2023, the CPUC staff approved a return on equity of 10.20%, 
effective January 1, 2024. 

On May 3, 2023, the Missouri Public Service Commission issued an order approving the March 3, 2023, joint settlement agreement in the general rate 
case filed on July 1, 2022, by the Company's Missouri subsidiary. The general rate case order approved a $44 million annualized increase in water and 
wastewater revenues, excluding $51 million in previously approved infrastructure surcharges, and authorized implementation of the new water and wastewater 
rates effective May 28, 2023. The annualized revenue increase was driven primarily by significant incremental capital investments since the Missouri 
subsidiary's 2021 rate case order. The Missouri subsidiary's view of its rate base was $2.3 billion, and its view as to its return on equity and long-term debt 
ratio (each of which is based on the general rate case order but was not disclosed therein) was 9.75% and 50.0%, respectively. 

On April 24, 2023, the Virginia State Corporation Commission issued an order approving the settlement of the rate case filed on September 26, 2022, by 
the Company's Virginia subsidiary. The general rate case order approved an $11 million annualized increase in water and wastewater revenues. Interim rates in 
this proceeding were effective on May 1, 2022, and the order required that the difference between interim and the final approved rates were subject to refund 
within 90 days of the order issuance. The order approves the settlement terms with a return on equity of 9.7% and a common equity ratio of 40.7%. The 
annualized revenue increase was driven primarily by significant incremental capital investments since the Virginia subsidiary's 2020 rate case order that have 
been completed or were planned through April 30, 2023, increases in pension and other postretirement benefits expense and increases in production costs, 
including chemicals, fuel and power costs. The general rate case order includes recovery of the Virginia subsidiary's COVID-19 deferral balance. It also 
includes approval of the accounting deferral of deviations in pension and other postretirement benefits expense from those established in base rates, until the 
Virginia subsidiary's next base rate case. 

On December 8, 2022, the PaPUC issued an order approving the joint settlement agreement in the rate case filed on April 29, 2022, by the Company's 
Pennsylvania subsidiary. The general rate case order approved a $138 million annualized increase in water and wastewater revenues, excluding $24 million for 
previously approved infrastructure filings, and authorizes implementation of the new water and wastewater rates effective January 28, 2023. The annualized 
revenue increase was driven primarily by significant incremental capital investments since the Pennsylvania subsidiary's 2021 rate case order that were 
completed through December 31, 2023, increases in pension and other postretirement benefits expense and increases in production costs, including chemicals, 
fuel and power costs. The general rate case order also includes recovery of the Pennsylvania subsidiary's COVID-19 deferral balance. The Pennsylvania 
subsidiary's view of its rate base was $5.1 billion, and its view as to its return on equity and long-term debt ratio (each of which is based on the general rate 
case order but was not disclosed therein) was 10.0% and 44.8%, respectively. 
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On December 15, 2022, the Illinois Commerce Commission issued an order approving the adjustment of base rates requested in a rate case filed on 
February 10, 2022, by the Company's Illinois subsidiary. As updated in the Illinois subsidiary's June 29, 2022 rebuttal filing, the request sought $83 million in 
additional annualized revenues, excluding previously recovered infrastructure surcharges. The general rate case order approved a $67 million annualized 
increase in water and wastewater system revenues, excluding previously recovered infrastructure surcharges of $18 million, effective January 1, 2023, based on 
an authorized return on equity of 9.78%, authorized rate base of $1.64 billion, a common equity ratio of 49.0% and a debt ratio of 51.0%. The annualized 
revenue increase was driven primarily by significant water and wastewater system capital investments since the Illinois subsidiary's 2017 rate case order that 
have been completed or were planned through December 31, 2023, expected higher pension and other postretirement benefit costs, and increases in production 
costs, including chemicals, fuel and power costs. 

Pending General Rate Case Filings 

On January 25, 2024, the Company's Illinois subsidiary filed tariffs for new water and wastewater rates. The request seeks a two-step rate increase 
consisting of aggregate annualized incremental revenue, based on a proposed return on equity of 10.75%, of (i) approximately $136 million effective January 1, 
2025, based on a future test year through December 31, 2025 with average rate base and a capital structure with an equity component of 52.27% and a debt 
component of 47.73%, and (ii) approximately $16 million effective January 1, 2026, based on a future test year to include end of period rate base and a capital 
structure with an equity component of 54.43% and a debt component of 45.57%. The requested increases are driven primarily by an estimated $557 million in 
capital investments to be made by the Illinois subsidiary starting January 2024 through December 2025. The request also proposes a treatment and compliance 
rider to address recovery of future environmental compliance investments, and a modification to the existing volume balancing account mechanism to include 
full production cost recovery. 

On January 19, 2024, the Company's New Jersey subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting approximately $162 million in additional annualized 
revenues, which is based on a proposed return on equity of 10.75% and a capital structure with an equity component of 56.30% and a debt component of 
43.70%. The requested annualized revenue increase is driven primarily by approximately $1.3 billion in capital investments made and to be made by the New 
Jersey subsidiary through December 2024. The request also proposes a revenue decoupling mechanism and seeks a deferral of certain production cost 
adjustments. 

On December 15, 2023, the Company's California subsidiary submitted a request to delay by one year its cost of capital filing and maintain its current 
authorized cost of capital through 2025. On February 2, 2024, the CPUC granted the request for a one year extension of the cost of capital filing to May 1, 
2025, to set its authorized cost of capital beginning January 1, 2026. 

On November 8, 2023, the Company's Pennsylvania subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting approximately $204 million in additional annualized 
revenues, excluding projected infrastructure surcharges of $20 million. The request is based on a proposed return on equity of 10.95% and a capital structure 
with an equity component of 55.30% and a debt component of 44.70%. The requested annualized incremental revenue increase is driven primarily by an 
estimated $1.0 billion of incremental capital investments to be made through mid-2025. The request also proposes a mechanism to address compliance with 
evolving environmental requirements, such as emerging federal regulations for lead and PFAS. If approved, the new rates would be expected to take effect on 
August 7, 2024. 

On November 1, 2023, the Company's Virginia subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting $20 million in additional annualized revenues. The request 
is based on a proposed return on equity of 10.95% and a capital structure with an equity component of 45.67% and a debt and other component of 54.33%. The 
requested increase is driven by approximately $110 million in capital investments between May 2023 and April 2025. The request also proposed a revenue 
decoupling mechanism and seeks deferral of certain production cost adjustments. Interim rates will be effective May 1, 2024, with the difference between 
interim and final approved rates subject to refund. 

On June 30, 2023, the Company's Kentucky subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting $26 million in additional annualized revenues, excluding 
infrastructure surcharges of $10 million. The request is based on a proposed return on common equity of 10.75% and a proposed capital structure with a 
common equity component of 52.45%. An order is expected in the general rate case by the end of the first quarter of 2024. 

On May 1, 2023, the Company's West Virginia subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting $45 million in additional annualized revenues, excluding 
previously approved infrastructure surcharges of $7 million. The request is based on a proposed return on equity of 10.50% and a capital structure with an 
equity component of 52.80%. The general rate case includes a future test year capturing planned investment through 2025 and an order is expected to be issued 
by February 25, 2024. On June 30, 2023, the West Virginia subsidiary filed its annual infrastructure surcharge requesting $8 million in additional annualized 
revenues for planned investment through 2024. The infrastructure surcharge will be aligned with the investments recognized in the general rate case if the 
future test year is approved. 
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On March 31, 2023, the Company's Indiana subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting $87 million in additional annualized revenues, excluding $41 
million of revenue from infrastructure filings already approved, which includes three step increases, with $43 million of the increase to be included in rates in 
January 2024, $18 million in May 2024, and $26 million in May 2025. The requested adjustment is based on a proposed return on equity of 10.60% and a 
capital structure with an equity component of 56.20%. Hearings were completed in September and an order is expected in the general rate case by the end of 
February 2024. 

On July 1, 2022, the Company's California subsidiary filed a general rate case requesting an increase in 2024 revenue of $56 million and a total increase 
in revenue over the 2024 to 2026 period of $95 million, all as compared to 2022 revenues. The Company updated its filing in January 2023 to capture the 
authorized step increase effective January 1, 2023. The filing was also updated to incorporate a decoupling proposal and a revision to the Company's sales and 
associated variable expense forecast. The revised filing requested additional annualized revenues for the test year 2024 of $37 million, compared to 2023 
revenues. This excludes the proposed step rate and attrition rate increase for 2025 and 2026 of $20 million and $19 million, respectively. The total revenue 
requirement request for the three-year rate case cycle, incorporating updates to present rate revenues and forecasted demand, is $76 million. On November 17, 
2023, the California subsidiary filed with the CPUC a partial settlement agreement reached with the CPUC's Public Advocates Office, which would determine 
the amount of incremental annualized water and wastewater revenue to be received by the California subsidiary to be $20 million in the 2024 test year, $16 
million in the 2025 escalation year, and $15 million in the 2026 attrition year. The partial settlement agreement addresses the California subsidiary's revenue 
requirement request but does not address rate design or certain other matters, such as the requested inclusion and implementation of a revenue stability 
mechanism to separate the California subsidiary's revenue and water sales. New rates would be implemented retroactively to January 1, 2024, upon a final 
decision issued by the CPUC approving the partial settlement agreement and resolving the other issues not addressed by the partial settlement agreement, 
which is expected to occur in mid-2024. 

Infrastructure Surcharges 

A number of states have authorized the use of regulatory mechanisms that permit rates to be adjusted outside of a general rate case for certain costs and 
investments, such as infrastructure surcharge mechanisms that permit recovery of capital investments to replace aging infrastructure. Presented in the table 
below are annualized incremental revenues, assuming a constant sales volume and customer count, resulting from infrastructure surcharge authorizations that 
became effective during 2023: 

(In millions) 

Infrastructure surcharges by state: 
Effective Date Amount 

New Jersey (a) $ 32 
Kentucky October 1, 2023 4 
Indiana (b) 26 
Missouri January 16, 2023 14 
Pennsylvania January 1, 2023 3 
West Virginia January 1, 2023 7 

Total infrastructure surcharge authorizations 86 

(a) In 2023, $15 million was effective October 30, $1 million was effective June 29 and $16 million was effective April 29. 

(b) In 2023, $20 million was effective March 23 and $6 million was effective March 8. 

Presented in the table below are annualized incremental revenues, assuming a constant sales volume and customer count, resulting from infrastructure 
surcharge authorizations that became effective on or after January 1, 2024: 

(In millions) 

Infrastructure surcharge filings by state: 
Missouri 
Illinois 

Total infrastructure surcharge filings 

Effective Date Amount 

January 20, 2024 $ 26 
January 1, 2024 5 

31 

Pending Infrastructure Surcharge Filings 

On January 31, 2024, the Company's Iowa subsidiary filed an infrastructure surcharge proceeding requesting $1 million in additional annualized 
revenues. 
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Other Regulatory Matters 

In September 2020, the CPUC released a decision under its Low-Income Rate Payer Assistance program rulemaking that required the Company's 
California subsidiary to file a proposal to alter its water revenue adjustment mechanism in its next general rate case filing in 2022, which would have become 
effective upon receiving an order in the current pending rate case. On October 5, 2020, the Company's California subsidiary filed an application for rehearing 
of the decision and following the CPUC's denial of its rehearing application in September 2021, the Company's California subsidiary filed a petition for writ of 
review with the California Supreme Court on October 27, 2021. On May 18, 2022, the California Supreme Court issued a writ of review for the California 
subsidiary's petition and the petitions filed by other entities challenging the decision. Independent of the judicial challenge, California passed Senate Bill 1469, 
which allows the CPUC to consider and authorize the implementation of a mechanism that separates the water corporation's revenue and its water sales. 
Legislation was signed by the Governor on September 30, 2022, and became effective on January 1, 2023. In response to the legislation, on January 27, 2023, 
the Company's California subsidiary filed an updated application requesting the CPUC to consider a Water Resources Sustainability Plan decoupling 
mechanism in its pending 2022 general rate case, which, if adopted, will become effective upon receiving an order in the current pending rate case. 

On March 2, 2021, an administrative law judge ("ALP) in the Office of Administrative Law of New Jersey filed an initial decision with the New Jersey 
Board of Public Utilities ("NJBPU") that recommended denial of a petition filed by the Company's New Jersey subsidiary, which sought approval of 
acquisition adjustments in rate base of $29 million associated with the acquisitions of Shorelands Water Company, Inc. in 2017 and the Borough of 
Haddonfield's water and wastewater systems in 2015. On July 29, 2021, the NJBPU issued an order adopting the ALJ's initial decision without modification. 
The Company's New Jersey subsidiary filed a Notice of Appeal with the New Jersey Appellate Division on September 10, 2021. The Company's New Jersey 
subsidiary filed its brief in support of the appeal on March 4, 2022. Response and Reply briefs were filed on June 22, 2022, and August 4, 2022, respectively. 
Oral argument was held on March 22, 2023, and the decision remains pending. There is no financial impact to the Company as a result of the NJBPU's order, 
since the acquisition adjustments are currently recorded as goodwill on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Consolidated Results of Operations 

Presented in the table below are the Company's consolidated results of operations: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Operating revenues $ 4,234 $ 3,792 $ 3,930 

Operating expenses: 
Operation and maintenance 1,720 1,589 1,777 

Depreciation and amortization 704 649 636 
General taxes 307 281 321 

Other (1) 

Total operating expenses, net 2,730 2,519 2,734 

Operating income 1,504 1,273 1,196 
Other income (expense): 

Interest expense (460) (433) (403) 
Interest Income 73 52 4 
Non-operating benefit costs, net 32 77 78 

Gain on sale of businesses - 19 747 
Other, net 47 20 18 

Total other income (expense) (308) (265) 444 

Income before income taxes 1,196 1,008 1,640 
Provision for income taxes 252 188 377 

Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 944 $ 820 $ 1,263 
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Segment Results of Operations 

The Company's operating segments are comprised of its businesses which generate revenue, incur expense and have separate financial information 
which is regularly used by management to make operating decisions, assess performance and allocate resources. The Company operates its business primarily 
through one reportable segment, the Regulated Businesses segment. Other primarily includes MSG, which does not meet the criteria of a reportable segment in 
accordance with GAAP. Other also includes corporate costs that are not allocated to the Company's Regulated Businesses, interest income related to the 
secured seller promissory note from the sale of HOS, income from assets not associated with the Regulated Businesses, eliminations of inter-segment 
transactions and fair value adjustments related to acquisitions that have not been allocated to the Regulated Businesses segment. This presentation is consistent 
with how management assesses the results of these businesses. For a discussion and analysis of the Company's financial statements for fiscal 2022 compared to 
fiscal 2021, please refer to Item 7—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the Company's Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed with the SEC on February 15, 2023. 

Sale of Homeowner Services Group 

On December 9, 2021, the Company sold all of the equity interests in subsidiaries that comprised HOS to a wholly owned subsidiary (the "Buyer") of 
funds advised by Apax Partners LLP, a global private equity advisory firm, for total consideration of approximately $1.275 billion, resulting in pre-tax gain of 
$748 million. The consideration at closing was comprised of $480 million in cash, a secured seller promissory note payable in cash and issued by the Buyer in 
the principal amount of $720 million, with an interest rate of 7.00% per year, and a contingent cash payment of $75 million payable upon satisfaction of certain 
conditions on or before December 31, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded post-closing adjustments, primarily related to 
working capital, of pre-tax income of $20 million, which is included in Gain on sale of businesses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The 
Company recognized $50 million of interest income during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, from the secured seller note. 

On February 2, 2024, the secured seller note was amended to increase the principal amount from $720 million to $795 million, in full satisfaction of the 
$75 million contingent cash payment payable under the HOS sale agreement. In addition, the interest rate payable on the secured seller note has increased from 
7.00% per year to 10.00% per year until maturity. The secured seller note requires compliance with affirmative and negative covenants (subject to certain 
conditions, limitations and exceptions), including a covenant limiting the incurrence by the Buyer and certain affiliates of additional indebtedness in excess of 
certain thresholds, but does not include any financial maintenance covenants. Certain of these covenants have been amended, including to provide for annual 
reductions of specified debt incurrence ratios. Furthermore, the amendment to the secured seller note eliminated the conditional right, beginning December 9, 
2024, to require a repayment, without premium or penalty, of 100% of the outstanding principal amount in full in cash together with all accrued and unpaid 
interest and other obligations thereunder. The final maturity date of the secured seller note remains December 9, 2026. The $75 million additional principal 
under the secured seller note must be repaid in full, without premium or penalty, in the event a proposed acquisition of a complementary business by or on 
behalf of an affiliate of the Buyer is not completed by May 2, 2024. The repayment obligations of the Buyer under the seller note are secured by a first priority 
security interest in certain property of the Buyer and the former HOS subsidiaries, including their cash and securities accounts, as well as a pledge of the equity 
interests in each of those subsidiaries, subject to certain limitations and exceptions. 

As a result of the sale of HOS, the categories which were previously shown as "Market-Based Businesses" and "Other" have been combined and shown 
as Other. Segment results for the year ended December 31, 2021, have been adjusted retrospectively to reflect this change. 

58 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 719 of 2266



Table of Contents 

Regulated Businesses Segment 

Presented in the table below is financial information for the Regulated Businesses: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Operating revenues $ 3,920 $ 3,505 $ 3,384 
Operation and maintenance 1,441 1,345 1,325 
Depreciation and amortization 693 633 601 

General taxes 288 264 301 
Other operating (income) expense (1) 1 
Other income (expense) (269) (220) (195) 
Provision for income taxes 259 188 172 

Net income attributable to common shareholders 971 $ 854 $ 789 

Operating Revenues 

Presented in the tables below is information regarding the main components of the Regulated Businesses' operating revenues: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Water services: 
Residential 2,143 $ 1,941 $ 1,935 
Commercial 798 710 676 
Fire service 158 147 151 
Industrial 167 153 141 

Public and other 284 267 239 

Total water services 3,550 3,218 3,142 
Wastewater services: 

Residential 228 174 151 
Commercial 62 45 37 
Industrial 8 4 4 

Public and other 29 19 16 

Total wastewater services 327 242 208 

Other (a) 43 45 34 

Total operating revenues 3,920 $ 3,505 $ 3,384 

(a) Includes other operating revenues consisting primarily of miscellaneous utility charges, fees and rents. 

(Gallons in millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Billed water services volumes: 
Residential 160,921 162,105 173,644 
Commercial 78,404 77,627 77,476 
Industrial 36,404 37,265 35,738 
Fire service, public and other 54,236 51,966 51,957 

Total billed water services volumes 329,965 328,963 338,815 
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In 2023, as compared to 2022, operating revenues increased $415 million, primarily due to: (i) a $350 million increase from authorized rate increases, 
including infrastructure surcharges, principally to fund infrastructure investment in various states; (ii) a $32 million increase from water and wastewater 
acquisitions and organic growth in existing systems; (iii) a $19 million estimated net increase primarily due to drier than normal weather in 2023, mainly 
driven by drought conditions in our Missouri service territory; (iv) a $23 million net increase as a result of reduced amortization of EADIT, primarily in the 
Company's Pennsylvania subsidiary; and (v) partially offset by a $12 million decrease due to changes in customer demand. 

Operation and Maintenance 

Presented in the table below is information regarding the main components of the Regulated Businesses' operating and maintenance expense: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Employee-related costs $ 513 $ 505 $ 522 

Production costs 438 387 353 
Operating supplies and services 255 242 245 
Maintenance materials and supplies 102 96 93 

Customer billing and accounting 65 59 66 

Other 68 56 46 

Total operation and maintenance expense $ 1,441 $ 1,345 $ 1,325 

Employee-Related Costs 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Salaries and wages 413 $ 395 $ 402 
Group insurance 60 59 66 
Pensions 9 21 25 

Other benefits 31 30 29 

Total employee-related costs 513 $ 505 $ 522 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, employee-related costs increased $8 million primarily due to annual merit increases and higher employee headcount to 
support growth of the business, which was partially offset by lower pension service costs, mainly attributable to an increase in the discount rate assumption. 

Production Costs 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Purchased water 161 $ 154 $ 153 
Fuel and power 108 104 97 

Chemicals 105 78 59 

Waste disposal 64 51 44 

Total production costs 438 $ 387 $ 353 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, production costs increased $51 million, primarily due to inflationary impacts from increased fuel, power and chemical 
costs, as well as an increase in waste disposal maintenance. 
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Operating Supplies and Services 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, operating supplies and services increased $13 million primarily due to an increase in maintenance costs on equipment and 
buildings. 

Other 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, other increased $12 million primarily due to an increase to the insurance other than group reserve which had an 
unfavorable claims experience compared to prior year, as well as higher insurance premiums. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, depreciation and amortization increased $60 million primarily due to additional utility plant placed in service from capital 
infrastructure investments and acquisitions. 

General Taxes 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, general taxes increased $24 million, primarily due to an increase in the New Jersey Gross Receipts Tax and incremental 
property taxes. 

Other Income (Expense) 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, other expenses increased $49 million primarily due to higher net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit costs 
in the current period as a result of market conditions, as well as higher interest expense from the issuance of incremental long-term debt. These increases were 
partially offset by an increase in allowance for funds used during construction in the current periods. 

Provision for Income Taxes 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, the Regulated Businesses' provision for income taxes increased $71 million. The Regulated Businesses' effective income 
tax rate was 21.1% and 18.0% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase was primarily due to the decrease in the 
amortization of EADIT, pursuant to regulatory orders. The amortization of EADIT is generally offset with reductions in revenue. 

Other 

Presented in the table below is information for Other: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Operating revenues $ 314 $ 287 $ 546 
Operation and maintenance 279 244 452 
Depreciation and amortization 11 16 35 

General taxes 19 17 20 
Interest expense (96) (119) (113) 
Interest income 45 50 3 
Gain on sale of businesses - 19 748 
Other income 12 6 2 

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (7) - 205 

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders $ (27) $ (34) $ 474 

Operating Revenues 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, operating revenues increased $27 million from an increase in capital projects in MSG, primarily at the United States 
Military Academy at West Point, New York and revenue for Naval Station Mayport. The Naval Station Mayport contract was awarded on June 30, 2022, with 
the performance start date for operation on March 1, 2023. 
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Operation and Maintenance 

Presented in the table below is information regarding the main components of Other's operating and maintenance expense: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Operating supplies and services $ 150 $ 120 $ 191 

Maintenance materials and supplies 29 35 123 
Employee-related costs 85 73 109 
Production costs 9 10 7 
Other 6 6 22 

Total operation and maintenance expense 279 $ 244 $ 452 

Operating Supplies and Services 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, operating supplies and services increased $30 million primarily due to costs associated with the increased capital projects 
in MSG. 

Employee-Related Costs 

In 2023, as compared to 2022, employee-related costs increased $12 million primarily due to salaries and wages and group insurance. 

Gain on Sale of Businesses 

In 2022, the Company recorded post-closing adjustments, primarily related to working capital, of pre-tax income of $20 million, which increased the 
total gain related to the sale of HOS. See Note 5—Acquisitions and Divestitures in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. 

Tax Matters 

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the "IRA") was signed into law. The IRA contains a Corporate Alternative Minimum Tax 
("CAMT") provision, effective January 1, 2023. To determine if a company is considered an applicable corporation subject to CAMT, the company's average 
adjusted financial statement income ("AFSI") for the three consecutive years preceding the tax year must exceed $1 billion. An applicable corporation must 
make several adjustments to net income when determining AFSI. During 2023, the Company evaluated the potential impacts of the CAMT provision within the 
1RA and available guidance and determined that it did not exceed the $1 billion AFSI threshold and therefore was not subject to CAMT in 2023. Based on 
current guidance, the Company is expected to be subject to CAMT beginning in 2024, and will continue to evaluate the impacts as additional guidance is 
released. 

Legislative Updates 

During 2023 and 2024, the Company's regulatory jurisdictions enacted the following legislation that has been approved and is effective as of 
February 14, 2024: 

California passed Senate Bill 1469, which allows the CPUC to consider and authorize the implementation of a mechanism that separates the water 
corporation's revenue and its water sales. Legislation was signed by the Governor on September 30, 2022, and was effective on January 1, 2023. 

Indiana passed House Bill 1417, which allows for deferred accounting and subsequent recovery through rates of regulatory assets, with or without 
Indiana Utility Regulatory Commission (the "IURC") approval. There are several requirements: (i) the costs must be deferred as a regulatory 
asset, (ii) only incremental costs may be deferred, and (iii) the IURC must find the costs to be reasonable and prudent. Legislation was signed by 
the Governor and became effective on April 20, 2023. 

Indiana passed Senate Bill 180, which allows for consolidated revenue to support post-acquisition capital improvements in wastewater systems 
via a service enhancement improvement recovery mechanism. Legislation was signed by the Governor and became effective on May 1, 2023. 

62 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 723 of 2266



Table of Contents 

Illinois passed House Bill 1105, which provides that property belonging to a public utility that provides water or sewer service may not be taken 
or damaged by eminent domain without prior approval from the Illinois Commerce Commission. Legislation was signed by the Governor and 
became effective on June 9, 2023. 

Illinois passed Senate Bill 250 (Public Act 103-0006), which contains supplemental appropriations for the previous fiscal year 2023 and 
appropriations for fiscal year 2024. This bill contains a $5 million appropriation to the Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity for 
purposes of grants pursuant to the Water and Sewer Financial Assistance Act (Public Act 102-262), which was an initiative of the Company's 
Illinois subsidiary during the 102nd General Assembly. Legislation was signed by the Governor on June 7, 2023, and the appropriation became 
effective July 1, 2023. 

California passed Senate Bill 122, which authorizes $300 million in additional funding for the California Water and Wastewater Arrearage 
Payment Program, and extends the eligibility date from March 2020 to June 2021, to March 2020 to December 2022. Legislation was signed and 
became effective on July 10, 2023. 

California passed Senate Bill 253, which requires any public or private company that does business in California and has over $1 billion in annual 
revenue to publicly disclose, beginning in 2026, scope 1, 2, and 3 greenhouse gas emissions released from their operations and supply chain. 

California passed Senate Bill 261, which requires companies doing business in California with greater than $500 million in annual revenues to 
prepare, beginning in 2026, biennial reports disclosing climate-related fmancial risk. 

New Jersey passed Assembly Bill 4791, establishing the "Resiliency and Environmental System Investment Charge Program," which creates a 
regulatory mechanism that enables water and wastewater utilities to recover the costs of investment in certain non-revenue producing utility 
system components that enhance water and wastewater system resiliency, environmental compliance such as existing and proposed requirements 
for PFAS, safety, and public health. Legislation was signed by the Governor and became effective on January 12, 2024. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The Company uses its capital resources, including cash, primarily to (i) fund operating and capital requirements, (ii) pay interest and meet debt 
maturities, (iii) pay dividends, (iv) fund acquisitions, (v) fund pension and postretirement benefit obligations, and (vi) to pay federal income taxes. The 
Company invests a significant amount of cash on regulated capital projects where it expects to earn a long-term return on investment. Additionally, the 
Company operates in rate regulated environments in which the amount of new investment recovery may be limited, and where such recovery generally takes 
place over an extended period of time, and certain capital recovery is also subject to regulatory lag. See Item 1—Business—Regulated Businesses—Regulation 
and Rate Making for additional information. The Company expects to fund future maturities of long-term debt through a combination of external debt and, to 
the extent available, cash flows from operations. Since the Company expects its capital investments over the next few years to be greater than its cash flows 
from operating activities, the Company currently plans to fund the excess of its capital investments over its cash flows from operating activities for the next 
five years through a combination of long-term debt and equity issuances, in addition to the remaining proceeds from the sale of HOS. The remaining proceeds 
from the sale of HOS include receipt of payments under a secured seller promissory note, plus interest. If necessary, the Company may delay certain capital 
investments or other funding requirements or pursue fmancing from other sources to preserve liquidity. In this event, the Company believes it can rely upon 
cash flows from operations to meet its obligations and fund its minimum required capital investments for an extended period of time. 

The Company regularly evaluates and monitors its cash requirements for capital investments, acquisitions, operations, commitments, debt maturities, 
interest and dividends. The Company's business is capital intensive, with a majority of this capital funded by cash flows from operations. The Company also 
obtains funds from external sources, primarily in the debt markets and through short-term commercial paper borrowings, and may also access the equity capital 
markets as needed or desired to support capital funding requirements. In order to meet short-term liquidity needs, American Water Capital Corp. ("AWCC"), 
the wholly owned finance subsidiary of parent company, issues commercial paper that is supported by its revolving credit facility. The Company's access to 
external financing on reasonable terms may depend on, as appropriate, any or all of the following: current business conditions, including that of the utility and 
water utility industry in general; conditions in the debt or equity capital markets; the Company's credit ratings; and conditions in the national and international 
economic and geopolitical arenas. Disruptions in the credit markets may discourage lenders from extending the terms of such commitments or agreeing to new 
commitments. Market disruptions may also limit the Company's ability to issue debt and equity securities in the capital markets. 
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If these unfavorable business, market, financial and other conditions deteriorate to the extent that the Company is no longer able to access the 
commercial paper and/or capital markets on reasonable terms, AWCC has access to an unsecured revolving credit facility. The Company's revolving credit 
facility provides $2.75 billion in aggregate total commitments from a diversified group of financial institutions. AWCC's revolving credit facility is used 
principally to support its commercial paper program, to provide additional liquidity support, and to provide a sub-limit for the issuance of up to $150 million in 
letters of credit. The maximum aggregate principal amount of short-term borrowings authorized for issuance under AWCC's commercial paper program is 
$2.60 billion. On October 26, 2023, the termination date of the credit agreement with respect to AWCC's revolving credit facility was extended, as permitted by 
the terms of the credit agreement, from October 2027 to October 2028. Subject to satisfying certain conditions, the credit agreement also permits AWCC to 
increase the maximum commitment under the facility by up to an aggregate of $500 million and to request extensions of its expiration date for up to two one-
year periods, as to which one such extension request remains. As of December 31, 2023, AWCC had no outstanding borrowings and $75 million of outstanding 
letters of credit under its revolving credit facility, with $2.50 billion available to fulfill its short-term liquidity needs and to issue letters of credit. 

The Company believes that its ability to access the debt and equity capital markets, the revolving credit facility and cash flows from operations will 
generate sufficient cash to fund the Company's short-term requirements. The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity and the ability to manage its 
expenditures, should there be a disruption of the capital and credit markets. However, there can be no assurance that the lenders will be able to meet existing 
commitments to AWCC under the revolving credit facility, or that AWCC will be able to access the commercial paper or loan markets in the future on 
acceptable terms or at all. 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Cash flows from operating activities primarily result from the sale of water and wastewater services and, due to the seasonality of demand, are generally 
greater during the warmer months. The Company's future cash flows from operating activities will be affected by, among other things: customers' ability to pay 
for service in a timely manner, economic utility regulation, inflation, compliance with environmental, health and safety standards, production costs, 
maintenance costs, customer growth, declining customer usage of water, employee-related costs, including pension funding, weather and seasonality, taxes, and 
overall economic conditions. The Company's current liabilities may exceed current assets mainly from debt maturities due within one year and the use of short-
term debt as a funding source, primarily to meet scheduled maturities of long-term debt, fund acquisitions and construction projects, as well as cash needs, 
which can fluctuate significantly due to the seasonality of the business and other factors. The Company addresses cash timing differences primarily through its 
short-term liquidity funding mechanisms. 

Presented in the table below is a summary of the major items affecting the Company's cash flows from operating activities: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Net income $ 944 $ 820 $ 1,263 
Add (less): 

Depreciation and amortization 704 649 636 
Deferred income taxes and amortization of investment tax credits 208 80 230 
Other non-cash activities (a) (9) (16) (27) 
Changes in working capital (b) 76 (355) 126 
Pension and non-pension postretirement benefit contributions (49) (51) (40) 
Gain on sale of businesses (19) (747) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,874 $ 1,108 $ 1,441 

(a) Includes provision for losses on accounts receivable, pension and non-pension postretirement benefits and other non-cash, net. Details of each component can be found on the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows. 

(b) Changes in working capital include changes to receivables and unbilled revenues, income tax receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, accrued taxes and other current assets and 
liabilities, net. Details of each component can be found on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

In 2023, cash flows provided by operating activities increased $766 million, primarily due to changes in deferred taxes, working capital and an increase 
in net income. The change in deferred taxes was driven by the settlement of the deferred tax liability in 2022 related to the Company's New York regulated 
operations that was sold in the first quarter of 2022. The changes in working capital were primarily driven by $280 million of estimated tax payments for 
taxable gains on the sales of the Company's Homeowner Services Group and its New York regulated operations in the first half of 2022. 
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The Company expects to make pension contributions to the plan trusts of $44 million in 2024. Actual amounts contributed could change materially from 
this estimate as a result of changes in assumptions and actual investment returns, among other factors. 

Cash Flaws from Investing Activities 

Presented in the table below is a summary of the major items affecting the Company's cash flows from investing activities: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Capital expenditures (2,575) $ (2,297) $ (1,764) 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (81) (315) (135) 
Proceeds from sale of assets, net of cash on hand 608 472 
Removal costs from property, plant and equipment retirements, net (159) (123) (109) 

Net cash used in investing activities (2,815) $ (2,127) $ (1,536) 

In 2023, cash flows used in investing activities increased $688 million as a result of increased payments for capital expenditures, as well as no assets 
sales in 2023 whereas 2022 had $608 million of proceeds from the sale of the Company's New York operations. The Company continues to invest across all 
infrastructure categories, mainly replacement and renewal of transmission and distribution and services, meter and fire hydrants infrastructure in the 
Company's Regulated Businesses, as discussed below. 

The Company's infrastructure investment plan consists of both infrastructure renewal programs, where the Company replaces mains, services, meters, 
hydrants and valves, as needed, and major capital investment projects, where the Company constructs new water and wastewater treatment and delivery 
facilities to meet new customer growth and water quality regulations. The Company's projected capital expenditures and other investments are subject to 
periodic review and revision to reflect changes in economic conditions and other factors. 

Presented in the table below is a summary of the Company's capital expenditures 

(In millions) 

by category: 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Transmission and distribution $ 922 $ 901 $ 749 
Treatment and pumping 322 190 197 
Services, meter and fire hydrants 652 546 366 
General structure and equipment 333 380 251 
Sources of supply 88 95 64 
Wastewater 258 185 137 

Total capital expenditures 2,575 $ 2,297 $ 1,764 

In 2023, the Company's capital expenditures increased $278 million due to an increase across most infrastructure categories. 

The Company also grows its business primarily through acquisitions of water and wastewater systems. These acquisitions are generally located in 
geographic proximity to the Company's existing Regulated Businesses and support continued geographical diversification and growth of its operations. 
Generally, acquisitions are funded initially with short-term debt, and later refinanced with long-term financing. During 2023, the Company paid $81 million to 
fund acquisitions, including deposits for pending acquisitions. The Company closed on 23 acquisitions of various regulated water and wastewater systems 
during 2023, which added approximately 18,100 water and wastewater customers. 

As previously noted, over the next five years the Company expects to invest between $16 billion to $17 billion, with $14.5 billion to $15 billion for 
infrastructure improvements in the Regulated Businesses, and the Company expects to invest between $34 billion to $38 billion over the next 10 years. In 
2024, the Company expects to invest $3.1 billion, consisting of infrastructure improvements and acquisitions in the Regulated Businesses. 
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Presented in the table below is a summary of the major items affecting the Company's cash flows from fmancing activities: 

(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Proceeds from long-term debt $ 1,264 $ 822 $ 1,118 
Repayments of long-term debt (282) (15) (372) 
(Repayments of) proceeds from term loan - (500) 
Net proceeds from common stock financing 1,688 - -
Net short-term (repayments) borrowings with maturities less than three months (996) 591 (198) 
Dividends paid (532) (467) (428) 
Other financing activities, net (a) 46 69 35 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,188 $ 1,000 $ (345) 

(a) Includes proceeds from issuances of common stock under various employee stock plans and the Company's dividend reinvestment plan, net of taxes paid, advances and contributions in aid of 
construction, net of refunds, and debt issuance costs and make-whole premiums on early debt redemption. 

In 2023, cash flows provided by fmancing activities increased $188 million, primarily due to the common stock financing and issuance of long-term 
debt. This was partially offset by repayment in full of the short-term commercial paper obligations during the first half of 2023. 

The Company's fmancing activities are primarily focused on funding regulated infrastructure expenditures, regulated acquisitions and payment of 
dividends. These activities included the issuance of long-term and short-term debt, primarily through AWCC and equity issuances from parent company. Based 
on the needs of the Regulated Businesses and the Company, AWCC may borrow funds or issue its debt in the capital markets and then, through intercompany 
loans, provide those borrowings to the Regulated Businesses and parent company. The Regulated Businesses and parent company are obligated to pay their 
portion of the respective principal and interest to AWCC, in the amount necessary to enable AWCC to meet its debt service obligations. Parent company's 
borrowings are not a source of capital for the Regulated Businesses, therefore, parent company is not able to recover the interest charges on its debt through 
regulated water and wastewater rates. As of December 31, 2023, AWCC has made long-term fixed rate loans to the Regulated Businesses amounting to $7.6 
billion. Additionally, as of December 31, 2023, AWCC has made long-term fixed rate loans to parent company amounting to $3.4 billion. 

On March 3, 2023, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of an aggregate of 12,650,000 shares of parent company common stock. 
Upon closing of this offering, the Company received, after deduction of the underwriting discount and before deduction of offering expenses, net proceeds of 
approximately $1,688 million. The Company used the net proceeds of the offering to repay short-term commercial paper obligations of AWCC, the wholly 
owned finance subsidiary of parent company, and for general corporate purposes. 

On June 29, 2023, AWCC issued, in a private placement, $1,035 million aggregate principal amount of 3.625% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2026 
(the "Notes"). AWCC received net proceeds of approximately $1,022 million, after deduction of underwriting discounts and commissions but before deduction 
of offering expenses payable by AWCC. A portion of the net proceeds was used to repay AWCC's commercial paper obligations and the remainder was used 
for general corporate purposes. See Note 11—Long-Term Debt in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. 

One of the principal market risks to which the Company is exposed is changes in interest rates. In order to manage the exposure, the Company follows 
risk management policies and procedures, including the use of derivative contracts such as treasury lock agreements. The Company also reduces exposure to 
interest rates by managing commercial paper and debt maturities. The Company does not enter into derivative contracts (through AWCC) for speculative 
purposes and does not use leveraged instruments. The derivative contracts entered into are for periods consistent with the related underlying exposures. The 
Company is exposed to the risk that counterparties to derivative contracts will fail to meet their contractual obligations. The Company minimizes the 
counterparty credit risk on these transactions by dealing only with leading, creditworthy financial institutions, having long-term credit ratings of "A" or better. 
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In November and December 2023, the Company entered into six treasury lock agreements, each with a term of 10 years, with notional amounts totaling 
$225 million, to reduce interest rate exposure on debt expected to be issued in 2024. These treasury lock agreements terminate in September 2024, and have an 
average fixed rate of 4.24%. The Company designated these treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges, with their fair value recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive gain or loss. Upon termination, the cumulative gain or loss recorded in accumulated other comprehensive gain or loss will be amortized through 
interest, net over the term of the new debt. 

During 2022 and the first half of 2023, the Company entered into 11 treasury lock agreements, each with a term of 10 years, with notional amounts 
totaling $300 million. The Company designated these treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges, with their fair value recorded in accumulated other 
comprehensive gain or loss. In June 2023, the Company terminated the treasury lock agreements realizing a net gain of $3 million included in Other, net in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

No ineffectiveness was recognized on hedging instruments for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021. 

In February 2021, parent company and AWCC filed with the SEC a universal shelf registration statement that enables the Company to meet its capital 
needs through the offer and sale to the public from time to time of an unlimited amount of various types of securities, including American Water common 
stock, preferred stock, and other equity and hybrid securities, and AWCC debt securities, all subject to market conditions and demand, general economic 
conditions, and as applicable, rating status. The shelf registration statement will expire in February 2024. During 2022 and 2021, $800 million, and $1.10 
billion, respectively, of debt securities were issued under this registration statement. During 2023 under this registration statement, parent company issued 
12,650,000 shares of its common stock for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $1,688 million. 

Presented in the table below are the issuances of long-term debt in 2023: 

Company Type Rate 
Weighted 

Average Rate Maturity 
Amount 

(in millions) 

AWCC (a) Senior notes—fixed rate 3.63% 3.63% 2026 $ 1,035 

AWCC (a) 
Private activity bonds and government funded 
debt—fixed rate 3.70%-3.88% 3.80% 2028 86 

Other American Water subsidiaries 
Private activity bonds and government funded 
debt—fixed rate 0.00%-3.75% 2.88% 2025-2041 143 

Total issuances $ 1,264 

(a) This indebtedness is considered "debt" for purposes of a support agreement between parent company and AWCC, which serves as a functional equivalent of a full and unconditional guarantee 
by parent company of AWCC's payment obligations under such indebtedness. See "—Issuer and Guarantor of Senior Notes" below. 

Presented in the table below are the retirements and redemptions of long-term debt in 2023 through sinking fund provisions, optional redemption or 
payment at maturity: 

Company Type Rate 
Weighted 

Average Rate Maturity 
Amount 

(in millions) 

AWCC Senior notes—fixed rate 6.55% 6.55% 2023 14 

AWCC 
Private activity bonds and government funded 
debt—fixed rate 0.60%-2.31% 0.68% 2023-2031 87 

Other American Water subsidiaries 
Private activity bonds and government funded 
debt—fixed rate 0.00%-5.50% 1.20% 2023-2051 163 

Other American Water subsidiaries Mortgage bonds—fixed rate 6.76%-6.96% 6.84% 2023 18 

Total retirements and redemptions 282 

From time to time and as market conditions warrant, the Company may engage in long-term debt retirements through make-whole redemptions, tender 
offers, open market repurchases or other viable alternatives. 
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Issuer and Guarantor of Senior Notes 

Outstanding unsecured senior notes issued by AWCC (other than the Notes) have been issued under two indentures, each by and between AWCC and 
Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as successor to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee, providing for the rights and obligations of the parties 
thereto and the holders of the notes issued thereunder. The Notes were issued under an indenture, by and among AWCC, parent company and U.S. Bank Trust 
Company, National Association, as trustee, providing for the rights and obligations of the parties thereto and the holders of the Notes. The senior notes and the 
Notes have been issued with the benefit of a support agreement, as amended, between parent company and AWCC, which serves as the functional equivalent of 
a full and unconditional guarantee by parent company of AWCC's payment obligations under such indebtedness. No other subsidiary of parent company 
provides guarantees for any of such indebtedness. If AWCC is unable to make timely payment of any interest, principal or premium, if any, on such senior 
notes or the Notes, parent company will provide to AWCC, at its request or the request of any holder thereof, funds to make such payment in full. If AWCC 
fails or refuses to take timely action to enforce certain rights under the support agreement or if AWCC defaults in the timely payment of any amounts owed to 
any such holder, when due, the support agreement provides that such holder may proceed directly against parent company to enforce such rights or to obtain 
payment of the defaulted amounts owed to that holder. 

As a wholly owned finance subsidiary of parent company, AWCC has no significant assets other than obligations of parent company and certain of its 
subsidiaries in its Regulated Businesses segment to repay certain intercompany loans made to them by AWCC. AWCC's ability to make payments of amounts 
owed to holders of the senior notes and the Notes will be dependent upon AWCC's receipt of sufficient payments of amounts owed pursuant to the terms of 
such intercompany loans and from its ability to issue indebtedness or otherwise obtain loans in the future, the proceeds of which would be used to fund the 
repayment of the senior notes and the Notes. 

Because parent company is a holding company and substantially all of its operations are conducted through its subsidiaries other than AWCC, parent 
company's ability to fulfill its obligations under the support agreement will be dependent upon its receipt of sufficient cash dividends or distributions from its 
operating subsidiaries. See Note 9—Shareholders' Equity—Dividends and Distributions, in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a summary 
of the limitations on parent company and its subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions. Furthermore, parent company's operating subsidiaries are 
separate and distinct legal entities and, other than AWCC, have no obligation to make any payments on the senior notes or the Notes or to make available or 
provide any funds for such payment, other than through their repayment obligations under intercompany loans, if any, with AWCC. Based on the foregoing, 
parent company's obligations under the support agreement will be effectively subordinated to all indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, 
lease commitments and moneys borrowed or other indebtedness incurred or issued by parent company's subsidiaries other than AWCC. 

Credit Facilities and Short-Term Debt 

Interest rates on advances under the AWCC revolving credit facility are based on a credit spread to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") rate 
(or applicable market replacement rate) or base rate, each determined in accordance with Moody Investors Service's and S&P Global Ratings' then applicable 
credit rating on AWCC's senior unsecured, non-credit enhanced debt. The facility is used principally to support AWCC's commercial paper program, to provide 
additional liquidity support and to provide a sub-limit of up to $150 million for letters of credit. Indebtedness under the facility and AWCC's commercial paper 
are considered "debt" for purposes of a support agreement between parent company and AWCC, which serves as a functional equivalent of a full and 
unconditional guarantee by parent company of AWCC's payment obligations thereunder. 

Presented in the tables below are the aggregate credit facility commitments, commercial paper limit and letter of credit availability under the revolving 
credit facility, as well as the available capacity for each, as of December 31: 

2023 

(In millions) 

Total availability 2,600 $ 150 $ 2,750 
Outstanding debt (180) (75) (255) 

Remaining availability as of December 31, 2023 2,420 $ 75 $ 2,495 

Commercial Paper 
Limit Letters of Credit Total (a) 

(a) Total remaining availability of $2.50 billion as of December 31, 2023, was accessible through revolver draws. 
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2022 

(In millions) 

Commercial Paper 
Limit Letters of Credit Total (a) 

Total availability 

Outstanding debt (1,177) 
$ 2,600 $ 150 $ 2,750 

(78) (1,255) 

Remaining availability as of December 31, 2022 1,423 $ 72 $ 1,495 

(a) Total remaining availability of $1.50 billion as of December 31, 2022, was accessible through revolver draws. 

Presented in the table below is the Company's total available liquidity as of December 31, 2023 and 2022: 

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 

(In millions) 

Available liquidity as of December 31, 2023 330 $ 2,495 $ 2,825 

Availability on 
Revolving Credit 

Facility 
Total Available 

Liquidity 

Available liquidity as of December 31, 2022 85 $ 1,495 $ 1,580 

The weighted average interest rate on AWCC's outstanding short-term borrowings was approximately 5.51% and 4.41%, for the years ended 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 

Capital Structure 

Presented in the table below is the percentage of the Company's capitalization represented by the components of its capital structure as of December 31: 

2023 2022 2021 

Total common shareholders' equity 44.2 % 38.3 % 39.9 % 
Long-term debt and redeemable preferred stock at redemption value 52.9 % 54.4% 56.6 % 
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt 2.9 % 7.3 % 3.5 % 

Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 

The change in the capital structure mix in 2023 is mainly attributable to the common stock issuance on March 3, 2023, and the long-term debt issuance 
on June 29, 2023. The proceeds from these issuances were used to repay short-term commercial paper borrowings. 

Debt Covenants 

The Company's debt agreements contain financial and non-financial covenants. To the extent that the Company is not in compliance with these 
covenants, an event of default may occur under one or more debt agreements and the Company, or its subsidiaries, may be restricted in its ability to pay 
dividends, issue new debt or access the revolving credit facility. The long-term debt indentures contain a number of covenants that, among other things, 
prohibit or restrict the Company from issuing debt secured by the Company's assets, subject to certain exceptions. Failure to comply with any of these 
covenants could accelerate repayment obligations. 

Covenants in certain long-term notes and the revolving credit facility require the Company to maintain a ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated 
capitalization (as defined in the relevant documents) of not more than 0.70 to 1.00. On December 31, 2023, the Company's ratio was 0.56 to 1.00 and therefore 
the Company was in compliance with the covenants. 

69 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 730 of 2266



Table of Contents 

Security Ratings 

Presented in the table below are long-term and short-term credit ratings and rating outlooks as of February 14, 2024, as issued by Moody's Investors 
Service on January 29, 2024, and S&P Global Ratings on February 6, 2023: 

Securities 

Rating outlook 
Senior unsecured debt 
Commercial paper 

Moody's Investors 
Service S&P Global Ratings 

Stable 
Baal 
P-2 

Stable 
A 

A-1 

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating 
agency, and each rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating. Security ratings are highly dependent upon the ability to generate cash flows in 
an amount sufficient to service debt and meet investment plans. The Company can provide no assurances that its ability to generate cash flows is sufficient to 
maintain its existing ratings. The Company does not have any material borrowings that are subject to default or prepayment as a result of the downgrading of 
these security ratings, although such a downgrading could increase fees and interest charges under its credit facility. 

As part of its normal course of business, the Company routinely enters into contracts for the purchase and sale of water, power and other fuel, chemicals 
and other services. These contracts either contain express provisions or otherwise permit the Company and its counterparties to demand adequate assurance of 
future performance when there are reasonable grounds for doing so. In accordance with the contracts and applicable contract law, if the Company is 
downgraded by a credit rating agency, especially if such downgrade is to a level below investment grade, it is possible that a counterparty would attempt to rely 
on such a downgrade as a basis for making a demand for adequate assurance of future performance, which could include a demand that the Company must 
provide collateral to secure its obligations. The Company does not expect to post any collateral which will have a material adverse impact on the Company's 
results of operations, financial position or cash flows. 

Access to the capital markets, including the commercial paper market, and respective financing costs in those markets, may be directly affected by the 
Company's securities ratings. The Company primarily accesses the debt capital markets, including the commercial paper market, through AWCC. However, the 
Company has also issued debt through its regulated subsidiaries, primarily in the form of mortgage bonds and tax exempt securities or borrowings under state 
revolving funds, to lower the overall cost of debt. 

Dividends and Regulatory Restrictions 

For discussion of the Company's dividends, dividend restrictions and dividend policy, see Note 9—Shareholders' Equity in the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for additional information. 

Insurance Coverage 

The Company carries various property, casualty, cyber and financial insurance policies with limits, deductibles and exclusions that it believes are 
consistent with industry standards. However, insurance coverage may not be adequate or available to cover unanticipated losses or claims. Additionally, annual 
policy renewals can be impacted by claims experience which in turn can impact coverage terms and conditions on a going-forward basis. The Company is self-
insured to the extent that losses are within the policy deductible or exceed the amount of insurance maintained. Such losses could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company's short-term and long-term financial condition and its results of operations and cash flows. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that management apply accounting policies and develop estimates, 
assumptions and judgments that could affect the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates, assumptions and judgments. Management believes that the areas described below require significant judgment in the application of accounting 
policy or in making estimates and assumptions in matters that are inherently uncertain and that may change in subsequent periods. Accordingly, changes in the 
estimates, assumptions and judgments applied to these accounting policies could have a significant impact on the Company's financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows, as reflected in the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements. Management has reviewed the critical accounting polices 
described below with the Company's Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, including the estimates, assumptions and judgments used in their application. 
Additional discussion regarding these critical accounting policies and their application can be found in Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Regulation and Regulatory Accounting 

The Company's regulated utilities are subject to regulation by PUCs and, as such, the Company follows the authoritative accounting principles required 
for rate regulated utilities, which requires the Company to reflect the effects of rate regulation in its Consolidated Financial Statements. Use of this authoritative 
guidance is applicable to utility operations that meet the following criteria: (i) third-party regulation of rates; (ii) cost-based rates; and (iii) a reasonable 
assumption that rates will be set to recover the estimated costs of providing service, plus a return on net investment, or rate base. As of December 31, 2023, the 
Company concluded that the operations of its utilities met the criteria. 

Application of this authoritative guidance has a further effect on the Company's financial statements as it pertains to allowable costs used in the 
ratemaking process. The Company makes significant assumptions and estimates to quantify amounts recorded as regulatory assets and liabilities. Such 
judgments include, but are not limited to, assets and liabilities related to regulated acquisitions, pension and postretirement benefits, depreciation rates and 
taxes. Due to timing and other differences in the collection of revenues, these authoritative accounting principles allow a cost that would otherwise be charged 
as an expense by a non-regulated entity, to be deferred as a regulatory asset if it is probable that such cost is recoverable through future rates. Conversely, the 
principles require the creation of a regulatory liability for amounts collected in rates to recover costs expected to be incurred in the future, or amounts collected 
in excess of costs incurred and are refundable to customers. 

For each regulatory jurisdiction where the Company conducts business, the Company assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether the 
regulatory assets continue to meet the criteria for probable future recovery and regulatory liabilities continue to meet the criteria for probable future settlement. 
This assessment includes consideration of factors such as changes in regulatory environments, recent rate orders (including recent rate orders on recovery of a 
specific or similar incurred cost to other regulated entities in the same jurisdiction) and the status of any pending or potential legislation. If subsequent events 
indicate that the regulatory assets or liabilities no longer meet the criteria for probable future recovery or probable future settlement, the Company's 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and financial position could be materially affected. In addition, if the Company concludes in a future period that a 
separable portion of the business no longer meets the criteria, the Company is required to eliminate the financial statement effects of regulation for that part of 
the business, which would include the elimination of any or all regulatory assets and liabilities that had been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Failure to meet the criteria of this authoritative guidance could materially impact the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company's regulatory asset balance was $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion, respectively, and its regulatory liability 
balance was $1.5 billion and $1.6 billion, respectively. See Note 3—Regulatory Matters in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information regarding the Company's significant regulatory assets and liabilities. 

Accounting for Income Taxes 

Significant management judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes, primarily due to the uncertainty related to tax positions 
taken, as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities, valuation allowances and the utilization of NOL carryforwards. 

In accordance with applicable authoritative guidance, the Company accounts for uncertain income tax positions using a benefit recognition model with a 
two-step approach, including a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold and a measurement approach based on the largest amount of tax benefit that is 
greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If it is not more-likely-than-not that the benefit of the tax position will be sustained on its 
technical merits, no benefit is recorded. Uncertain tax positions that relate only to timing of when an item is included on a tax return are considered to have met 
the recognition threshold. Management evaluates each position based solely on the technical merits and facts and circumstances of the position, assuming the 
position will be examined by a taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. Significant judgment is required to determine whether the 
recognition threshold has been met and, if so, the appropriate amount of unrecognized tax benefit to be recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The Company evaluates the probability of realizing deferred tax assets quarterly by reviewing a forecast of future taxable income and its intent and 
ability to implement tax planning strategies, if necessary, to realize deferred tax assets. The Company also assesses its ability to utilize tax attributes, including 
those in the form of carryforwards, for which the benefits have already been reflected in the financial statements. The Company records valuation allowances 
for deferred tax assets when it concludes that it is more-likely-than-not such benefit will not be realized in future periods. 

Under GAAP, specifically ASC 740, Income Taxes, the tax effects of changes in tax laws must be recognized in the period in which the law is enacted. 
ASC 740 also requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to be measured at the enacted tax rate expected to apply when temporary differences are to be realized 
or settled. For the Company's regulated entities, the change in deferred taxes are recorded as either an offset to a regulatory asset or a regulatory liability and 
may be subject to refund to customers. For the Company's unregulated operations, the change in deferred taxes are recorded as a non-cash re-measurement 
adjustment to earnings. 
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Actual income taxes could vary from estimated amounts due to the future impacts of various items, including changes in income tax laws, the 
Company's forecasted financial condition and results of operations, failure to successfully implement tax planning strategies and recovery of taxes through the 
regulatory process for the Regulated Businesses, as well as results of audits and examinations of filed tax returns by taxing authorities. The resulting tax 
balances as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, are appropriately accounted for in accordance with the applicable authoritative guidance; however, the ultimate 
outcome of tax matters could result in favorable or unfavorable adjustments to the Consolidated Financial Statements and such adjustments could be material. 
See Note 14—Income Taxes in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding income taxes. 

Accounting for Pension and Postretirement Benefits 

The Company maintains noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees of its regulated utility and shared service operations. 
The Company also maintains other postretirement benefit plans providing medical and life insurance to eligible retirees. See Note 2—Significant Accounting 
Policies and Note 15—Employee Benefits in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the description of and 
accounting for the defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit plans. 

The Company's pension and postretirement benefit costs are developed from actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key assumptions 
provided by the Company to its actuaries, including the discount rate and expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. Material changes in the Company's 
pension and postretirement benefit costs may occur in the future due to changes in these assumptions as well as fluctuations in plan assets. The assumptions are 
selected to represent the average expected experience over time and may differ in any one year from actual experience due to changes in capital markets and 
the overall economy. These differences will impact the amount of pension and other postretirement benefit expense that the Company recognizes. The primary 
assumptions are: 

Discount Rate—The discount rate is used in calculating the present value of benefits, which are based on projections of benefit payments to be 
made in the future. The objective in selecting the discount rate is to measure the single amount that, if invested at the measurement date in a 
portfolio of high-quality debt instruments, would provide the necessary future cash flows to pay the accumulated benefits when due. 

Expected Return on Plan Assets ("EROA")—Management projects the future return on plan assets considering prior performance, but primarily 
based upon the plans' mix of assets and expectations for the long-term returns on those asset classes. These projected returns reduce the net 
benefit costs the Company records currently. 

Rate of Compensation Increase—Management projects employees' pay increases, which are used to project employees' pension benefits at 
retirement. 

Health Care Cost Trend Rate—Management projects the expected increases in the cost of health care. 

Mortality— Management adopted the Society of Actuaries Pri-2012 mortality base table, the most recent table developed from private pension 
plan experience, which provides rates of mortality in 2012 and adopted the new MP-2021 mortality improvement scale to gradually adjust future 
mortality rates downward due to increased longevity in each year after 2012. 

The discount rate assumption, which is determined for the pension and postretirement benefit plans independently, is subject to change each year, 
consistent with changes in applicable high-quality, long-term corporate bond indices. The Company uses an approach that approximates the process of 
settlement of obligations tailored to the plans' expected cash flows by matching the plans' cash flows to the coupons and expected maturity values of 
individually selected bonds. For each plan, the discount rate was developed as the level equivalent rate that would yield the same present value as using spot 
rates aligned with the projected benefit payments. The weighted-average discount rate assumption for determining pension benefit obligations was 5.18%, 
5.58% and 2.94% at December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The weighted-average discount rate assumption for determining other postretirement 
benefit obligations was 5.22%, 5.60% and 2.90% at December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

In selecting an EROA, the Company considered tax implications, past performance and economic forecasts for the types of investments held by the 
plans. The weighted-average EROA assumption used in calculating pension cost was 6.79% for 2023, 6.50% for 2022 and 6.50% for 2021. The weighted-
average EROA assumption used in calculating other postretirement benefit costs was 5.00% for 2023, 3.60% for 2022 and 3.67% for 2021. 
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Presented in the table below are the allocations of the pension plan assets by asset category: 

Percentage of Plan Assets as of December 31, 

Asset Category 2024 Target Allocation 2023 2022 

Equity securities 37% 41% 57 % 
Fixed income 63% 59 % 43 % 

Total 100 % 100 % 100 % 

Presented in the table below are the allocations of the other postretirement benefit plan assets by asset category: 

Percentage of Plan Assets as of December 31, 

Asset Category 

Equity securities 
Fixed income 

Total 

2024 Target Allocation (a) 

27 % 
73%

100 % 

2023 2022 

32% 30% 
68% 70% 

100 % 100 % 

(a) Refer to Note 15—Employee Benefits in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional details on the allocations of assets and the trusts which fund the other postretirement 
benefit plans 

The investments of the pension and postretirement welfare plan trusts include debt and equity securities held either directly or through mutual funds, 
commingled funds and limited partnerships. The trustee for the Company's defined benefit pension and postretirement welfare plans uses an independent 
valuation firm to calculate the fair value of plan assets. 

In selecting a rate of compensation increase, the Company considers past experience in light of movements in inflation rates. The Company's rate of 
compensation increase was 3.51% for 2023, 2022 and 2021. 

In selecting health care cost trend rates, the Company considers past performance and forecasts of increases in health care costs. As of January 1, 2023, 
the Company's health care cost trend rate assumption used to calculate the periodic benefit cost was 7.00% in 2023 gradually declining to 5.00% in 2031 and 
thereafter. As of December 31, 2023, the Company projects that medical inflation will be 6.75% in 2024 gradually declining to 5.00% in 2031 and thereafter. 

The Company will use a weighted-average discount rate and EROA of 5.18% and 6.79%, respectively, for estimating its 2024 pension costs. 
Additionally, the Company will use a weighted-average discount rate and EROA of 5.22% and 5.00%, respectively, for estimating its 2024 other postretirement 
benefit costs. A decrease in the discount rate or the EROA would increase the Company's pension expense. The Company's 2023 pension and postretirement 
total net benefit credit was $6 million and the 2022 pension and postretirement total net benefit credit was $47 million. The Company expects to make pension 
contributions to the plan trusts of $44 million in 2024; however, the actual amounts contributed could change materially from this estimate. The assumptions 
are reviewed annually and at any interim re-measurement of the plan obligations. The impact of assumption changes is reflected in the recorded pension and 
postretirement benefit amounts as they occur, or over a period of time if allowed under applicable accounting standards. 

Benefit Plan Amendments 

In December 2022, the Company amended the American Water Pension Plan ("AWPP"), a tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan, to restructure it as 
of December 31, 2022. The restructuring involved the spin-off of certain inactive participants from the existing AWPP into a separate tax-qualified defined 
benefit pension plan, the American Water Pension Plan for Certain Inactive Participants ("AWPP Inactive"). Benefits offered to the plan participants remain 
unchanged. Actuarial gains and losses associated with AWPP Inactive are amortized over the average remaining life expectancy of the inactive participants. 
The actuarial gains and losses associated with the AWPP continued to be amortized over the average remaining service period for active participants. The 
Company remeasured the pension plan obligation and assets to reflect the amendment for each plan as of December 31, 2022. 
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In December 2022, the Company completed plan amendments to spin-off and merge a portion of the American Water Retiree Welfare Plan, with and into 
the Company's medical plan for active employees ("Active Medical Plan"), in order to repurpose the over-funded portion of the Bargained Retiree Voluntary 
Employees' Beneficiary Association ("Bargained VEBA") trust. Benefits offered to the plan participants remain unchanged. As a result of these changes, 
effective December 31, 2022, the Company transferred investment assets from the Bargained VEBA into the existing trust maintained for the benefit of Active 
Medical Plan participants ("Active VEBA"). The transfer of these Bargained VEBA investment assets into the Active VEBA permits access to approximately 
$194 million of assets, as of December 31, 2022, for purposes of paying active union employee medical benefits. The Company recorded the transfer of assets 
as a negative contribution and therefore did not record a gain or loss, as permitted by accounting guidance. See Note 18—Fair Value of Financial Information 
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, for additional information on accounting for the assets as investments in debt and equity securities. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from the Company's Regulated Businesses is generated primarily from water and wastewater services delivered to customers. These contracts 
contain a single performance obligation, the delivery of water or wastewater services, as the promise to transfer the individual good or service is not separately 
identifiable from other promises within the contracts and, therefore, is not distinct. Revenues are recognized over time, as services are provided. There are 
generally no significant financing components or variable consideration. Revenues include amounts billed to customers on a cycle basis, and unbilled amounts 
calculated based on estimated usage from the date of the meter reading associated with the latest customer bill, to the end of the accounting period. The 
amounts that the Company has a right to invoice are determined by each customer's actual usage, an indicator that the invoice amount corresponds directly to 
the value transferred to the customer. 

Increases or decreases in the volumes delivered to customers and rate mix due to changes in usage patterns in customer classes in the period could be 
significant to the calculation of unbilled revenue. In addition, changes in the timing of meter reading schedules and the number and type of customers 
scheduled for each meter reading date would also have an effect on the unbilled revenue calculation. Unbilled revenue for the Company's regulated utilities as 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $193 million and $178 million, respectively. 

The Company also recognizes revenue when it is probable that future recovery of previously incurred costs or future refunds that are to be credited to 
customers will occur through the ratemaking process. 

The Company also has long-term, fixed fee contracts to operate and maintain water and wastewater systems for the U.S. government on military 
installations and facilities owned by municipal customers. Billing and revenue recognition for the fixed fee revenues occurs ratably over the term of the 
contract, as customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by the Company. Additionally, these contracts allow the Company to make 
capital improvements to underlying infrastructure, which are initiated through separate modifications or amendments to the original contract, whereby stand-
alone, fixed pricing is separately stated for each improvement. The Company has determined that these capital improvements are separate performance 
obligations, with revenue recognized over time based on performance completed at the end of each reporting period. Losses on contracts are recognized during 
the period in which the losses first become probable and estimable. Revenues recognized during the period in excess of billings on construction contracts are 
recorded as unbilled revenues, with billings in excess of revenues recorded as other current liabilities until the recognition criteria are met. Changes in contract 
performance and related estimated contract profitability may result in revisions to costs and revenues and are recognized in the period in which revisions are 
determined. Unbilled revenue within Other as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, was $109 million and $97 million, respectively. 

Revenue from the Company's former HOS business, which was sold in December 2021, was generated through various protection programs in which 
the Company provided fixed fee services to domestic homeowners and smaller commercial customers for interior and exterior water and sewer lines, interior 
electric and gas lines, heating and cooling systems, water heaters, power surge protection and other related services. Most of the contracts had a one-year term 
and each service was a separate performance obligation, satisfied over time, as the customers simultaneously received and consumed the benefits provided 
from the service. Customers were obligated to pay for the protection programs ratably over 12 months or via a one-time, annual fee, with revenues recognized 
ratably over time for those services. Advances from customers were deferred until the performance obligation was satisfied. 
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Accounting for Contingencies 

The Company records loss contingencies when management determines that the outcome of future events is probable of occurring and when the amount 
of the loss or a range of losses can be reasonably estimated. The determination of a loss contingency is based on management's judgment and estimates about 
the likely outcome of the matter, which may include an analysis of different scenarios. Liabilities are recorded or adjusted when events or circumstances cause 
these judgments or estimates to change. In assessing whether a loss is reasonably possible, management considers many factors, which include, but are not 
limited to: the nature of the litigation, claim or assessment, review of applicable law, opinions or views of legal counsel and other advisors, and the experience 
gained from similar cases or situations. The Company provides disclosures for material contingencies when management deems there is a reasonable 
possibility that a loss or an additional loss may be incurred. The Company provides estimates of reasonably possible losses when such estimates may be 
reasonably determined, either as a single amount or within a reasonable range. 

Actual amounts realized upon settlement or other resolution of loss contingencies may be different than amounts recorded and disclosed and could have 
a significant impact on the liabilities, revenue and expenses recorded on the Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 16—Commitments and 
Contingencies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding contingencies. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

See Note 2—Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of recent accounting standards. 

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

The Company is exposed to market risk associated with changes in commodity prices, equity prices and interest rates. The Company is exposed to risks 
from changes in interest rates as a result of its issuance of variable and fixed rate debt and commercial paper. The Company manages its interest rate exposure 
by limiting its variable rate exposure and by monitoring the effects of market changes in interest rates. The Company also has the ability to enter into financial 
derivative instruments, which could include instruments such as, but not limited to, interest rate swaps, forward starting swaps and U.S. Treasury lock 
agreements to manage and mitigate interest rate risk exposure. As of December 31, 2023, a hypothetical increase of interest rates by 1% associated with the 
Company's short-term borrowings would result in a $3 million increase in short-term interest expense. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had six treasury lock agreements, each with a term of 10 years, with notional amounts totaling $225 million, to 
reduce interest rate exposure on debt expected to be issued in 2024. These treasury lock agreements terminate in September 2024, and have an average fixed 
rate of 4.24%. When entering into treasury locks, the Company is subject to market risk with respect to changes in the underlying benchmark interest rate that 
impacts the fair value of the treasury locks. The Company manages market risk by matching the terms of the treasury locks with the critical terms of the 
expected debt issuance. The fair value of the treasury locks at December 31, 2023, was in a loss position of $8 million. A hypothetical 1% adverse change in 
interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of the treasury locks to a loss position of approximately $26 million at December 31, 2023. 

The Company's risks associated with price increases for chemicals, electricity and other commodities are reduced through contractual arrangements and 
the expected ability to recover price increases through rates, in the next general rate case proceeding or other regulatory mechanism, as authorized by each 
regulatory jurisdiction. Non-performance by these commodity suppliers could have a material adverse impact on the Company's results of operations, financial 
position and cash flows. 

The market price of the Company's common stock may experience fluctuations, which may be unrelated to its operating performance. In particular, the 
Company's stock price may be affected by general market movements as well as developments specifically related to the water and wastewater industry. These 
could include, among other things, interest rate movements, quarterly variations or changes in financial estimates by securities analysts and governmental or 
regulatory actions. This volatility may make it difficult for the Company to access the capital markets in the future through additional offerings of its common 
stock or other equity securities, regardless of its financial performance, and such difficulty may preclude the Company from being able to take advantage of 
certain business opportunities or meet business obligations. 
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The Company is exposed to credit risk through its water, wastewater and related services. The Company's Regulated Businesses serve residential, 
commercial, industrial and other customers, while the businesses within Other engage in business activities with government entities and other customers. The 
Company's primary credit risk is exposure to customer default on contractual obligations and the associated loss that may be incurred due to the non-payment 
of customer accounts receivable balances. The Company's credit risk is managed through established credit and collection policies which are in compliance 
with applicable regulatory requirements and involve monitoring of customer exposure and the use of credit risk mitigation measures such as letters of credit or 
prepayment arrangements. The Company's credit portfolio is diversified with no significant customer or industry concentrations. In addition, the Regulated 
Businesses are generally able to recover all prudently incurred costs including uncollectible customer accounts receivable expenses and collection costs 
through rates. 

The Company's retirement trust assets are exposed to the market prices of debt and equity securities. Changes to the retirement trust asset values can 
impact the Company's pension and other benefits expense, funded status and future minimum funding requirements. Changes in interest rates can impact 
retirement liabilities. The Company aims to reduce risk through asset diversification and by investing in long duration fixed-income securities that have a 
duration similar to that of its pension liabilities, seeking to hedge some of the interest rate sensitivity of its liabilities. That way, if interest rates fall and 
liabilities increase, the Company expects that the fixed-income assets in its retirement trust will also increase in value. The Company also expects its risk to be 
reduced through its ability to recover pension and other benefit costs through rates. 

The Company is also exposed to a potential national economic recession or deterioration in local economic conditions in the markets in which it 
operates. The credit quality of the Company's customer accounts receivable is dependent on the economy and the ability of its customers to manage through 
unfavorable economic cycles and other market changes. In addition, there can be no assurances that regulators will grant sufficient rate authorizations. 
Therefore, the Company's ability to fully recover operating expense, recover its investment and provide an appropriate return on invested capital made in the 
Regulated Businesses may be adversely impacted. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
American Water Works Company, Inc. 

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Water Works Company, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated fmancial statements"). 
We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

In our opinion, the consolidated fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fmancial position of the Company as of 
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the COSO. 

Basis for Opinions 

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated fmancial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial 
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company's consolidated fmancial statements and on the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws 
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated fmancial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective 
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated fmancial statements. Our audit of internal control 
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal 
control over fmancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of fmancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fmancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

78 

KAW_APP_EX28_051625 
Page 739 of 2266



Table of Contents 

Critical Audit Matters 

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated 
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter 
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing 
a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

Accounting for the Effects of Rate Regulation 

As described in Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company's consolidated regulatory assets and liabilities balances were 
$1,119 million and $1,482 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2023. The Company's regulated utilities are subject to regulation by multiple state utility 
commissions and the Company follows authoritative accounting principles required for rate regulated utilities, which requires the effects of rate regulation to 
be reflected in the Company's consolidated financial statements. As disclosed by management, for each regulatory jurisdiction where the Company conducts 
business, the Company assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether the regulatory assets continue to meet the criteria for probable future recovery and 
regulatory liabilities continue to meet the criteria for probable future settlement. This assessment includes consideration of factors such as changes in regulatory 
environments, recent rate orders (including recent rate orders on recovery of a specific or similar incurred cost to other regulated entities in the same 
jurisdiction) and the status of any pending or potential legislation. 

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to accounting for the effects of rate regulation is a critical audit 
matter are the significant judgment by management in accounting for regulatory assets and liabilities relative to whether regulatory assets continue to meet the 
criteria for probable future recovery and regulatory liabilities continue to meet the criteria for probable future settlement as a result of changes in regulatory 
environments, recent rate orders, and the status of any pending or potential legislation. This in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and 
effort in performing audit procedures and evaluating audit evidence obtained relating to management's judgments. 

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the Company's regulatory accounting process, including 
controls over management's assessment and consideration of factors related to the probability of future recovery or settlement. These procedures also included, 
among others, evaluating the reasonableness of management's judgments regarding the probability of recovery and settlement based on the Company's 
correspondence with regulators, status of regulatory proceedings, past practices, and other relevant information; evaluating the related accounting and 
disclosure implications; and evaluating regulatory asset and liability balances based on provisions and formulas outlined in rate orders and other 
correspondence with the Company's regulators. 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 
February 14, 2024 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1948. 
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December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

American Water Works Company, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In millions, except share and per share data) 

ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 32,189 $ 29,736 
Accumulated depreciation (6,751) (6,513) 

Property, plant and equipment, net 25,438 23,223 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 330 85 

Restricted funds 34 32 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for uncollectible accounts of $51 and $60, respectively 339 334 
Income tax receivable 86 114 

Unbilled revenues 302 275 
Materials and supplies 112 98 

Other 186 312 

Total current assets 1,389 1,250 

Regulatory and other long-term assets: 
Regulatory assets 1,106 990 
Seller promissory note from the sale of the Homeowner Services Group 720 720 

Operating lease right-of-use assets 86 82 
Goodwill 1,143 1,143 
Other 416 379 

Total regulatory and other long-term assets 3,471 3,314 

Total assets 30,298 $ 27,787 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 

American Water Works Company, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(In millions, except share and per share data) 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES 

Capitalization: 
Common stock ($0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 200,144,968 and 187,200,539 shares 
issued, respectively) 2 $ 2 

Paid-in-capital 8,550 6,824 
Retained earnings 1,659 1,267 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (26) (23) 

Treasury stock, at cost (5,414,867 and 5,342,477 shares, respectively) (388) (377) 

Total common shareholders' equity 9,797 7,693 

Long-term debt 11,715 10,926 

Redeemable preferred stock at redemption value 3 3 

Total long-term debt 11,718 10,929 

Total capitalization 21,515 18,622 

Current liabilities: 

Short-term debt 179 1,175 
Current portion of long-term debt 475 281 
Accounts payable 294 254 

Accrued liabilities 791 706 
Accrued taxes 67 49 
Accrued interest 93 91 
Other 252 255 

Total current liabilities 2,151 2,811 

Regulatory and other long-term liabilities: 
Advances for construction 352 316 
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits 2,717 2,437 

Regulatory liabilities 1,481 1,590 
Operating lease liabilities 73 70 
Accrued pension expense 262 235 
Other 196 202 

Total regulatory and other long-term liabilities 5,081 4,850 

Contributions in aid of construction 1,551 1,504 
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 16) 

Total capitalization and liabilities 30,298 $ 27,787 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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American Water Works Company, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies 
Consolidated Statements of Operations 
(In millions, except per share data) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

2023 2022 2021 

Operating revenues $ 4,234 $ 3,792 $ 3,930 

Operating expenses: 
Operation and maintenance 1,720 1,589 1,777 
Depreciation and amortization 704 649 636 
General taxes 307 281 321 
Other (1) 

Total operating expenses, net 2,730 2,519 2,734 
Operating income 1,504 1,273 1,196 

Other income (expense): 
Interest expense (460) (433) (403) 
Interest income 73 52 4 

Non-operating benefit costs, net 32 77 78 
Gain on sale of businesses 19 747 
Other, net 47 20 18 

Total other income (expense) (308) (265) 444 

Income before income taxes 1,196 1,008 1,640 
Provision for income taxes 252 188 377 

Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 944 $ 820 $ 1,263 

Basic earnings per share: (a) 

Net income attributable to common shareholders 4.90 $ 4.51 $ 6.96 

Diluted earnings per share: (a) 

Net income attributable to common shareholders 4.90 $ 4.51 $ 6.95 

Weighted average common shares outstanding: 

Basic 193 182 182 

Diluted 193 182 182 

(a) Amounts may not calculate due to rounding. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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American Water Works Company, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(In millions) 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

Net income attributable to common shareholders 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax: 

Change in employee benefit plan funded status, net of tax of $(2), $5 and $0 in 
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively 
Defined benefit pension plan actuarial loss, net of tax of $0, $1 and $1 in 2023, 
2022 and 2021, respectively 
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $0, $1 and $1 in 2023, 
2022 and 2021, respectively 

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale fixed-income securities, net of tax of 
$0 in 2023, 2022 and 2021 

Net other comprehensive income (loss) 

Comprehensive income attributable to common shareholders 

2023 2022 2021 

$ 944 $ 820 $ 1,263 

(3) 14 (1) 

4 3 4 

(8) 5 1 

4 

(3) 22 4 

$ 941 $ 842 $ 1,267 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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